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GROUP INTRODUCTION
RENAA

Changyou Alliance Group Limited (HKO1039; Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s website: http://www.hkex.com.hk) (the “Company” and,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), together with
CCB International, UnionPay Merchant, China Mobile, Bank of China
and China Eastern Airlines formed a joint venture to develop a global
“‘Digital Point Business Ecosystem Alliance” (the “Changyou Platform”)
and to create a new blue ocean of a brand new, sustainable and
recyclable digital-points ecosystem by applying digital points as
financial assets.
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BRAND INTRODUCTION
OF THE CHANGYOU
PLATFORM

5 B & mERE T

The Digital Point Ecosystem Alliance operational platform (“Changyou platform”) was jointly initiated by the Group, CCB
International and UnionPay Merchant, with investment from Bank of China, China Mobile and China Eastern Airlines.
The Changyou platform will make use of the abundant points resources of the six founding shareholders to integrate
its respective digital points, which are virtual assets that have broad application prospects. The Changyou platform
also aims to employ advanced technology such as big data and blockchain to build the “Digital Point Business
Ecosystem Alliance” and “Virtual Asset Circulation and Settlement System”, which will be available globally. Through
the continuous global expansion of the platform, digital points will certainly be an important component of the asset
virtualization of internet digital inclusive financing. The digital points as virtual assets will bring brand new experience
for the Group and its customers for assets trading with high efficiency, high level of security, intelligence and low cost,
as well as settlement and preservation. Changyou symbolizes the internet technology entering into a new phase and is
one of the platforms which demonstrates the future of financial industry ecosystems.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
F EHE
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In 2021, despite the continuous spreading of the global epidemic
and the international political turmoil, China had a good start of
the 14th Five-Year Plan through scientific coordination, effective
prevention and control, and continuous economic and social
development, with China’s national economy recording a steady
rise and achieving new results in quality development. According
to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, China’s GDP reached
RMB114,367 billion in 2021, an increase of 8.1% year-on-year,
and the Chinese economy showed a stable recovery throughout
the year.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited (the “Company” or
“Changyou”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) has
capitalised on its years of experience in the e-commerce business
to grasp market opportunities and enter the digital points business
segment and industry, with its business continuously expanding
into diversified and large markets. In the second half of 2017,
the Group formed the Changyou Alliance with CCB International
(Holdings) Limited, China UnionPay Merchant Services Company
Limited, Bank of China Group Investment Limited, China Mobile
(Hong Kong) Group Limited and China Eastern Airlines Corporation
Limited. Meanwhile, to better promote our corporate image and
in line with the Group’s strategic focus on the development of
Changyou, the English name of the Company has been changed
from “Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited” to “Changyou Alliance
Group Limited” and the Company has adopted “#5 Bt BB £ @A
[R7AR)” as its dual foreign name in Chinese in place of “B#E 5
EE AR AR with effect from 3 June 2020.

The Changyou Platform is an important part of the Group’s
business. The platform is specifically developed for electronic trade
and aims to integrate the digital membership points, resources and
strategic advantages of the business partners in the Changyou
Alliance, maximise the value of digital points as virtual assets and
preserve the interests for platform users. The Group strives to
develop the Changyou Platform as an integrative and secured
platform. In recent years, with the development of blockchain,
big data, artificial intelligence and SaaS technology, digital assets
have received increasing recognition from the industry as a type
of secured asset. By leveraging advanced technologies such
as blockchain, big data analysis and artificial intelligence, the
Changyou Alliance aims to develop a safe and stable global
financial platform for the issuance, storage, circulation, and
payment settlement of blockchain tokenisation of assets.

With the increasing improvement of business models and
consumption scenarios, the Changyou Platform has undergone
rapid development since its launch, with more diversified products
and services, expansion of scale, gradually covering a wide range
of consumption scenarios and daily service business scope, and
increasing number of users. For the year ended 31 December
2021, the cumulative number of registered users of the Changyou
Platform amounted to approximately 96.69 million, representing an
increase of approximately 38.19 million or 65% as compared with
the total number of registered users as at 31 December 2020 (For
the year ended 31 December 2020: approximately 58.50 million).
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FERE
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Chairman’s Statement
FERSE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the gross profit margin
of business operations and the Changyou Platform of Changyou
Alliance increased to 11.1% (For the year ended 31 December
2020: approximately 0.4%). The Group is expanding the
application of eco-resources, strengthening the foundation of
the application of digital assets, leveraging the marketing and
operational advantages of the Changyou Platform, and enhancing
customer retention and activity to achieve stable revenue and long-
term profit growth for the Group.

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”),
| would like to express my gratitude to our management and staff

for their dedication and contribution to the Group throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021.

By order of the Board
Changyou Alliance Group Limited

Cheng Jerome
Chairman

30 March 2022
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The Group has capitalised on its years of experience in the
e-commerce business, which has enabled the Group to grasp
market opportunities and enter the digital points business segment
and industry. In the second half of 2017, the Group formed
the Changyou digital point business ecosystem alliance (the
“Changyou Alliance”) with CCB International (Holdings) Limited
(“CCB International”), China UnionPay Merchant Services
Company Limited (“UnionPay Merchant”), Bank of China Group
Investment Limited (“‘Bank of China”), China Mobile (Hong Kong)
Group Limited (“China Mobile”) and China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited (“China Eastern Airlines”).

The Group’s electronic platform, “Changyou” (the “Changyou
Platform”) aims to integrate the digital membership points,
resources and strategic advantages of the business partners in the
Changyou Alliance. The Group strives to develop the Changyou
Platform as an integrative and secured platform, so as to preserve
and maximise the value of digital points as virtual assets for the
users. With the development of blockchain technology, digital
assets as a secured asset have received increasing recognition
from the industry. By leveraging advanced technologies such as
blockchain and big data analysis, the Changyou Alliance aims
to develop a global financial platform built on blockchain for the
issuance, circulation, storage payment and settlement of the
tokens.

Since its launch, the Changyou Platform has undergone rapid
development, with an increasing number of users, more diversified
products and services, as well as optimised business models and
consumption scenarios. In 2021, the Group undertook to refine
its business model with an aim to improve its gross profit. As
such, although the total revenue from the business operations of
Changyou Alliance and the Changyou Platform (collectively, the
“Digital Point Business”) decreased to approximately RMB114.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
RMB268.8 million), representing a decrease of approximately
RMB154.6 million or approximately 57.5% as compared to 2020,
the gross profit from the business operations of the Changyou
Alliance and the Changyou Platform increased to approximately
RMB12.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
approximately RMB1.0 million), representing an increase of
approximately RMB11.7 million or approximately 11.1 times as
compared to 2020.

The gross merchandise volume of the Digital Point Business
amounted to approximately RMB157.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: approximately RMB440.1 million),
representing a decrease of approximately RMB282.8 million
(approximately 64.3%) over the same period of last year. The
Group is currently negotiating with a number of potential business
partners so as to enhance the Changyou Platform and expand the
scope of its Digital Point Business into other sectors.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021
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Driven by advanced technologies such as big data, blockchain,
cloud computing and artificial intelligence, the financial industry
has gradually entered the stage of industry transformation from
the rapid development, fintech has become the norm. Meanwhile,
benefited from the enhancing digitalisation of financial institutions,
digital financial products and tools will obtain enormous
development opportunities. In order to create a commercial
financial platform, Changyou continues to strengthen its efforts
in issuance, exchange and settlement of digital points. Users can
monetise Changyou digital points via Changyou Pay (# B ) on
the Changyou platform. Meanwhile, leveraging on Changyou’s
standardised, low-cost and efficient Changyou point services for
small and medium-sized enterprises and top key account (“KA”)
merchants with digital points, and provides marketing solutions
and technical support.

The Group offers points consumption services and points cashier
output services to the Changyou Alliance and other alliances
utilising the Digital Points Business. In 2021, the Changyou
Platform leveraged the marketing and operational advantages with
its shareholders and KA channels, and provided China UnionPay
with the operational and promotional services to promote and
market its mobile app “ZPI{”, the services penetrate into the app
of Changyou’s shareholders and KA channel and the APPs of their
respective provincial companies and other platforms that can bring
traffic. Based on the cross-marketing model, in order to improve
the loyalty and enhance the activeness of the users, the users
will be granted benefits as a gift. At the same time, the Group
actively developed a SaaS platform based on points issuance and
cross-sales with UnionPay, the SaaS targets to deliver marketing,
solutions and system support for small and medium-sized
merchants and KA merchants. The Group also actively extended
the breadth of points sources by connecting the loyalty program
of various enterprises. Under the rich ecology, the Changyou
Platform also introduced price immediate reduction and red
pockets digital point as a new digital point resources with a view
to exploring more diversified means for the use of digital points. In
addition, the Changyou Platform also secured a significant number
of application ecological resources, established the foundation of
digital assets application, and promoted the circulation of digital
assets. The Group covering more than a thousand business
scenarios, and reaching 100,000 offline outlets.

For its instalment business, the Group’s products has been
enriched with the introduction of top brand suppliers to meet
various levels of consumer needs and trading habits, and
consumer loyalty and conversion of digital points are respectively
maximised and facilitated. During the year ended 31 December
2021 (the “Reporting Period”), financial cooperation business of
the Group continued to grow with the expansion of its UnionPay
channels combined with channel activities, such as UnionPay
— Centralized Operation Center project, Pay Full for Immediate
Reduction of Changyou Mobile QuickPass, Mobile QuickPass-
Changyou China Mobile Red Packet Promotion Project as well as
UnionPay Customer Acquisition activities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SRS ERE&

Entertainment

To continue to expand the scenarios of the Group’s Digital Points
Business and build a more solid customer base, as well as to
achieve the acquisition and conversion of target customers,
during the Reporting Period, the Group vigorously expanded its
application ecosystem, established sub-businesses covering
video and audio, lifestyle services, games and entertainment
and prioritised the development of entertainment scenarios,
strengthened its retail business and cooperation with brands, and
has achieved good results.

In the Group’s development of online entertainment scenarios,
two games with over 100 million downloads were promoted
through collaboration. In the next stage, the Changyou
Platform will continue to stabilise the promotion channels of the
abovementioned games. Meanwhile, the Changyou Platform
has conducted a detailed analysis of the population in the
entertainment scenario on an ongoing basis and further diversified
and captured different user profiles, precisely located its target
user groups, and accurately delivered the promotion content
through the development of membership benefits for members of
entertainment platforms such as games and live streaming as well
as props exchange.

During the Reporting Period, the Group communicated and
contacted 220 merchants, including important partners and
well-known companies. The Group will continue to update the
cooperation plan with its partners and upgrade the operation plan.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021
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The Group has continued to develop its retail business by further
expanding the development of consumer user interface including
interface for catering, offline entertainment, travel services,
tourism services and department stores, established cooperation
relationships with large companies and continued to enrich the
provision of products relating to clothing, food, housing and
transportation. The Group has developed in key cities in the PRC
as well as online and offline markets to centralise its business
and further broadened its application channels for the business
of Changyou points. During the Reporting Period, the Group
completed the signing for direct cooperations with approximately
7,600 products, and improved the supply chain of the six major
cross-industry interests and physical products. As for the catering
industry, the Group adjusted its development plan from focusing
on key urban business districts to key catering brands, and had
chosen a fast food restaurant chain as a pilot scheme in Nanjing
and Shanghai for initial testing and implementation. At the same
time, the Group also continued to communicate with more chain
restaurant brands.

Financial institutions relied on the operational capabilities and
product advantages of the Changyou Platform to carry out joint
marketing activities through vertical use scenario and points
exchange process, the marketing makes full use of various
promotion channels to reach users in multiple ways, and offers
users plentiful supply of products and services while also
enhancing user experience and improving overall operational
efficiency and transaction volume. During the Reporting Period,
the Group alliances with a number of large enterprises, the mature
commercialised product models together with the strong resource
support from the Changyou Platform greatly boosted the orders
and the users’ conversion rate during the new users registration
marketing campaigns jointly held with China Mobile and UnionPay.

Public Transportation Services

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s public transportation
services were steadily promoted with the introduction of daily
service support such as travel vouchers, public transportation
deduction vouchers and monthly bicycle pass and the addition
of Wechat riding business scenario. During the Reporting Period,
travel vouchers provided by the Group and which may be
redeemed by customers using Changyou points have covered
more than 10 provinces and cities across the country. At the same
time, the Group continued to enrich scenic spot ticket redemption
vouchers and tourist privileges to meet more users’ needs for
urban travel. The Changyou Platform actively expands livelihood
scenarios, improves user conversion rate and vitality, and ultimately
retains users in the private domain of the Changyou ecology.
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Personal Car Owner Services

The Group has entered into cooperation agreements with many
industry-leading carpark service brands to provide parking
payment and refuelling services, regular maintenance and repair
and car washing services. During the Reporting Period, the Group
introduced a number of industry-leading suppliers as partners,
opening up the major scenarios of high-frequency cars such
as parking, charging, and payment and providing immediate
reduction for parking and other activities. At the same time, the
Changyou Platform continued to enhance technical innovation,
strengthened the management of the research and development
process, improved the quality of project delivery, further enforced
the monitoring of system operation conditions, provided timely
warning and rapid repair for operational faults, and completed the
monitoring of operational data, customer complaints and real-time
business complaint process optimization.

The Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB114.2 million (2020: approximately RMB268.8 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 57.5% as compared to
2020. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
targeted to provide its products to customers with higher profit
margins. Revenue from products with lower profit margins or
offered at the most favourable price was reduced gradually, which
resulted in a decrease in the Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 December 2021. The Company believes that the business
strategy of increasing the gross profit margin of revenue will be
advantageous to the development of the Digital Points Business.

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
approximately RMB12.7 million (2020: approximately RMB1.0
million). Since the Company changed its business strategy to
providing its products to customers with higher profit margins,
the gross profit margin was eventually increased to approximately
11.1% (2020: approximately 0.4%).

Other income of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
was approximately RMBO0.6 million (2020: approximately RMBO.7
million). A detailed breakdown of the factors contributing to the
other income of the Group is disclosed in note 5 to the financial
statements as disclosed in this report.

Impairment loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately RMB0.9 million, which mainly represents
impairment loss of trade and other receivables during the year
ended 31 December 2021. Recoveries of other receivables were
recognised in 2020, there was no such recoveries recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: impairment gain
of trade and other receivables of approximately RMB29.7 million).
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Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 decreased to approximately RMB24.2 million
(2020: approximately RMB25.3 million). The decrease was mainly
attributable to reduced sales and promotion activities for the
Changyou Platform during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2021 increased to approximately RMB51.9 million
(2020: approximately RMB45.0 million). The increase was mainly
attributable to the development of software as a service (the
“SaaS”) business and cost of employee layoffs during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 increased to approximately RMB39.0
million (2020: approximately RMB36.2 million). The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in staff costs for research and
development activities and cost of employee layoffs during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Finance costs

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately RMB20.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
RMB6.4 million). A detailed breakdown of the factors contributing
to the finance costs of the Group is disclosed in note 6(a) to the
financial statements as disclosed in this report.

Taxation

No income tax expenses was recorded for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, cash and cash equivalents of the Group
were approximately RMB50.4 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB152.3 million). As compared to 2020, cash
and cash equivalents decreased by approximately RMB101.9
million, mainly due to net cash outflow arising from operating
activities of approximately RMB103.4 million (2020: approximately
RMB104.2 million), net cash outflow arising from investing
activities of approximately RMBO0.5 million (2020: net cash inflow of
approximately RMB30.4 million) and net cash inflow from financing
activities of approximately RMB3.8 million (2020: approximately
RMB94.7 million).
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In view of the increasing popularity of consumer spending with
digital points, the successful experience of the Group in developing
the Changyou Platform and the robust performance and growth of
the Changyou Platform, the Company intended to issue HK$126.0
million 3.5% convertible bonds (the “2020 Convertible Bonds”)
to Century Investment (Holding) Limited (“CIH”), the net proceeds
of which was intended to be utilised to expand the Digital Point
Business into the Hong Kong and overseas markets by developing
an additional new digital point electronic platform with Hong Kong
and overseas as the target markets (the “New International
Changyou Platform”).

On 29 July 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with CIH, pursuant to which the Company shall issue
the 2020 Convertible Bonds to CIH. The 2020 Convertible Bonds
bear interest at 3.5% per annum and will mature on the date
falling three years after the first issue date of the 2020 Convertible
Bonds. For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 July 2020 and the
circular of the Company dated 17 September 2020.

The issuance of the 2020 Convertible Bonds was completed on 19
October 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the actual uses of the proceeds from
the issuance of the 2020 Convertible Bonds were as follows:

ENFERBTEINEEE ASTEILN AEEREBHTA
BRI B 15 T A IR RIA RIG K - AN A A # M Century
Investment (Holding) Limited ([CIH]) #£17126.0'F &8 713.5% AJ i
KEHF(ZE22FRRES])  FAMGREFHEBANE
BREBBREINEMFTETESET T REREMIGENAR
BABEBREINTSHNHETES ZES ((FHEAREBRTEE] -

RIZBZZFELA-TAA - NRRECIHAT L RE B - it -
ARFBECHET - B BFAMEES - —T-TFAMKRE
FIRENEIL%ETE - Ihﬁ_;_jiTﬁkﬁﬁém%ﬁE
HEBH=FZAEN BHEIZHE—TFHE  F2HELR
HR-—Z-_ZFLA-_TARNAHEAR Ta%ﬁ_7_7¢
AATEREEE -

“REURREFER-ETF AT AR

TJ\IEE'JA[%}EH ?QDT :

BT R -TFABBRIESME

Original use of the

net proceeds from Estimated timeline
the issuance of the  Proposed change in for utilitation of the
2020 Convertible the allocation of the  Revised use of the net proceeds from
Bonds as disclosed  net proceeds from  net proceeds from  Actual use of the net  the issuance of the
inthe circular of the  theissuance of the  the issuance ofthe  proceeds from the 2020 Convertible
Company dated 17 2020 Convertible 2020 Convertible issuance of the 2020 Bonds after
Usage September 2020 Bonds Bonds  Convertible Bonds reallocation
KARAH
RTECER
hATLRE B REHIEE
A RERT 3 B B BRRT
S22 ERES S :3 ZECEE S 3
TRRESH FgRERE TRRES TRRES TRRES
BRoEEEN AR feRERE FREREN frgRERg
i3 FAR# gEey HEBTRE ERRR R B
HKS (millon) HKS (millon) HKS (millon HKS (millor)
BT(55) BT(65) Br(5E) B (BE)
To fund the development of the New REBHRENRARRHI R 250 220) 30 - 31 December 2023
International Changyou Platform supported HERGRTAREES % “Tocf
by relevant technology infrastructure which RSB AR RAEASE TZA=t-H

enables effective extraction and development

of big data samples, creating a precise and

extensive database of consumer transactions

and consumption behavior

B iR - EREREZ
LREERSRRETAEEE
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On 26 March 2018, the Company and CIH, the substantial
shareholder of the Company, entered into a warrant subscription
agreement, pursuant to which the Company shall issue
298,000,000 warrants (“Warrants”) to CIH at a subscription price
of HK$0.01 per Warrant. The Company received the subscription
price of HK$2,980,000. For further details of the transaction,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26
March 2018 and 27 June 2018, respectively, and the circular
of the Company dated 5 July 2018. The Warrants were issued
on 18 September 2018. The net proceeds from the issue of
Warrants (after deduction of relevant expenses) of approximately
HK$1,480,000 was fully utilised for the development of the
Changyou Platform during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Upon the fulfilment of certain conditions, the Warrants are
exercisable in in full or in part at any time between the period
commencing on the date that is six months after the date of the
issue of the Warrants and ending on the earliest of (i) the date
on which all Warrants have been exercised in full; and (ii) the
date that is the fifth anniversary date of the issue date of such
Warrants. None of the Warrants were exercised during the year
ended 31 December 2021. However, the Company is of the view
that CIH has demonstrated continuous support and motivation to
improve the Company’s financial performance. CIH will continue to
introduce strategic partners to the Group so as to further enhance
the performance.

On 7 August 2018, the Company granted 72,000,000 share
options to Cheng Jerome, the chairman and an executive
Director. For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 4 May 2018 and the circular
of the Company dated 15 June 2018. No option was exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

On 29 July 2020, PCL entered into a subscription agreement with
an investor (“New Investor”), pursuant to which, among other
things, PCL conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the New
Investor conditionally agreed to subscribe for or shall procure
the nominee of the New Investor to subscribe for, not less than
61,078,767 but not more than 73,287,671 shares of PCL at
the subscription price of not less than US$35,670,000 but not
more than US$42,800,000 (the “2020 Subscription”). The net
proceeds expected to be raised upon the completion of the 2020
Subscription was intended to be utilised for, among other things,
the development and expansion of the Digital Point Business
and the Existing PRC Changyou Platform. The subscription price
payable for the 2020 Subscription was determined after arm’s
length negotiations between PCL and the New Investor on the
basis of the pre-money valuation of US$593 million. For further
details of the 2020 Subscription, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 29 July 2020 and the circular of the
Company dated 22 September 2020.
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As at the date of this report, the 2020 Subscription had yet to be
completed and no proceeds from the 2020 Subscription were
received. PCL and the New Investor are using all reasonable efforts
within their respective capacity to satisfy the conditions precedent
of the 2020 Subscription by 30 June 2022 (being the long stop

RARERY  —T-_ZFERBFEHATHK - LHAKEI—F

*Ti REBEFEMGHIR - DENNREELES B NBERN
—EREBN  MR-ZE-_—FRA=ZTHEI 2 -TFRE

$IEE’J§XJJ:EHH)W EPk - T - TFRBEIEN RGN -

date of the 2020 Subscription).

Assuming the maximum proceeds of US$42.8 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB277 million) are raised from the 2020 ERHVARK2TTEET) -
Subscription, it is expected that the proceeds will be applied as

follows and will be fully utilised by June 2024

Usage

To fund fixed expenses (comprising salaries and other
administrative expenses) for the recruitment and
retention of personnel and management and for the
development of the Existing PRC Changyou Platform

To fund promotional and marketing activities to attract
and maintain customers’ loyalty and their participation
and consumption of the products and services provided
on the Existing PRC Changyou Platform

To fund capital expenditure of the Existing PRC Changyou
Platform

To fund general working capital of PCL and its
subsidiaries
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Proposed use of
proceeds from the
2020 Subscription as
previously disclosed
in the circular of the
Company dated 22

September 2020
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Ission and Analysis

Net assets

As at 31 December 2021, net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB46.0 million (as at 31 December
2020: approximately RMB136.4 million). As at 31 December 2021,
the current ratio (being total current assets divided by total current
liabilities) of the Group was approximately 1.33 (as at 31 December
2020: approximately 1.97).

As at 31 December 2021, total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB191.0 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB289.9 million) and total liabilities were
approximately RMB253.2 million (31 December 2020:
approximately RMB227.7 million). The debt ratio as at 31
December 2021 (being total liabilities divided by total assets) was
1.833 as compared to 0.79 as at 31 December 2020.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total borrowings (which
consisted of convertible bonds) of approximately RMB112.3 million
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB84.2 million). The
gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021 (being total borrowing
divided by total equity) was approximately -1.81 (as at 31
December 2020: approximately 1.35).

Property and equipment

As at 31 December 2021, property and equipment were
approximately RMB4.9 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB12.4 million). A detailed breakdown is disclosed
in note 11 to the financial statements as disclosed in this report.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2021
were approximately RMB134.2 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB122.2 million). A detailed breakdown of the
factors contributing to the trade and other receivables of the Group
is disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements as disclosed in
this report.
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Inventories

The inventory balance of the Group as at 31 December 2021
was approximately RMBO0.6 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB1.4 million). The Digital Point Business requires
minimal inventory level.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables of the Group as at 31 December 2021
were approximately RMB137.3 million (as at 31 December 2020:
approximately RMB133.7 million). A detailed breakdown of the
factors contributing to the trade and other payables of the Group is
disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements as disclosed in this
report.

Pledged assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have pledged assets
(as at 31 December 2020: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (as at 31 Decemeber 2020: Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no contracted capital
commitments which were not provided in the financial statements
(as at 31 December 2020: Nil).

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 71 employees (as at
31 December 2020: 236 employees). For the year ended 31
December 2021, total staff costs were approximately RMB81.0
million (2020: approximately RMB79.8 million).During the year,
the Group also provided internal training, external training and
correspondence courses for its staff in order to promote self
improvement and enhancement of skills relevant to work. The
remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to
their position, responsibilities and experience and prevailing market
conditions.

Management Discussion and Analysis

kk}% ujuﬂﬁ& Tﬁ

Rt
[y
Mg

FEBR T —F+-A=+—HHNFEEBRNABARK0.6H
BTV -ZE-ZF+-A=+—H : YARBI4EBET) - HF
A EBFEREFEKF

EZREMENTUR
AEER-_Z-—F+-A=+—"ANESHRAMENKIEL
RARKEIB7TIEETL(MR_ETF+_A=+—0: HARK

183.7HETT) - AREE S L EMENFRELRARNFAN R
TN P R B T SR P SE 1 9P SR -

EHEAEE

RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—0 FTEEUEEFREER_T=F
F+=—A=+—08 8 -

FREE

RIBZ—F+-A=+—H AEELESAKHIRAE (T
TEF-A=ZT—H 8| -

BARESE

RoZ-—F+-AZ+—8  ARELEETOERRS B
RIEHBBNERAR R -F-FF+—A=+—8 &) -

BERFMBUR

RZZBZ—F+-A=+—R AEEEZEE R _T-ZF
T-A=t—R:236%RE) - HE_FT-_—F+_A=1+—H
IFFE - METRANRARBEBIOAEL(CZ-2F - HAR
K79.8BETT) - NEA - AEETASHE TRHERARE - SM8
ol IR ERAR - PAYRIE B TR BGE Mg o B T AR RO £RE -
BV H2EERS  BF  EREEATAMEE

IBRBREEARAR T SFENE



22

Management Discussion and Analysis

SRS ERE&

Foreign exchange risk

The business of the Group is mainly located in China and most
of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi. Most of the
assets and liabilities of the Group are computed in Renminbi. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net foreign currency assets
amounted to approximately RMB22 million (as at 31 December
2020: approximately RMB1.2 million). During the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group did not utilise any future contracts,
currency borrowings and otherwise to hedge against its foreign
exchange risk. However, the Group will continue to monitor the
risk exposures and will consider to hedge against material currency
risk if required.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for the deemed disposal of equity interest in PCL by the
Company as disclosed in this report, there were no significant
investments held nor material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021. There was
no plan authorised by the Board for other material investments or
additions of capital assets as at the date of this report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

SN LB

AEENEBFEMRFE - MABIRXDAAREEE - A&
ENABLBEERABEAUNAREHE RZ2E=_—F+=A
=+—H AEERIINEEEFHEAOABARKE22BEET(RZZ
ZEF+ZRA=+—H: HARBI12BERL - HEZTZ—F
+ZA=+—HIEFE  AEETEFERATMARBPEH  EE(E
REAEM G E P AR EENINERER - AT - AEESHEES
REASZNEAR - T EEERBTEREIEREERR -

FENEARE HMBARNERRBRHE  URARREE
RRERBAEFREENTE

BARRARIEL E DS ERE (MAREMIE) I REEREBE
TECFA AT HUEFEIARFAEANEARE TR
ETARMEARNEMERKERHE - RARERH - A%
ETECASEEESRBEFERMERREABAEREEN

£

=z
il

B

0l

EFQUTREMBE T - —F+ A=+t —HILFEREE
ARMEE (CE2_2F : F) -



The Group believes that risk management practices are important
and uses its best effort to ensure they are sufficient to mitigate
risks present in our operations and financial position. The following
are the principal risks and uncertainties of our business:

o Our Digital Point Business depends on our ability to maintain
our existing relationships and to develop new relationships
with business partners, cooperation platforms and suppliers
as part of the business ecosystem of the Changyou
Platform. As such, the quality and diversity of the goods
and services available on the Changyou Platform depend
on our relationship with and the performance of such
business partners, cooperation platforms and suppliers. The
Group has been continually looking for new opportunities to
diversify, improve and develop the Changyou Platform, and
will continue to expand its connections and networks and to
increase our competitiveness in the market;

° Our Digital Point Business is subject to rapid market
changes and the potential development of new business
models and the entry of new and well-funded competitors.
Although the Group has been successful in capturing market
opportunities, in order to remain competitive, we need to
stay updated of the constantly evolving industry trends and
to enhance and improve the responsiveness, functionality
and features of our Changyou Platform. In order to attract
and retain users and maintain our competitiveness, the
Group will continue to invest significant resources in our
research and development to improve our existing systems,
enhance our technology infrastructure, and establish and
enrich our big data and blockchain technologies;

o As the Group is continuously expanding its businesses in
China, it is required to comply with the new applicable laws
and regulations that are specifically relevant to the Group’s
business, such as laws and regulations relating to online
commerce, interchange on digital points on the online
platform and distribution content, data protection, internet
information security, intellectual property, etc. There are
substantial uncertainties and restrictions with respect to the
interpretation and application of such laws and regulations
in China. The Company will continue to monitor and identify
changes in the relevant laws and regulations, so as to take
appropriate actions or measures to ensure the Company is
in compliance with such laws and regulations;
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o The business of the Group is mainly located in China and
most of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi. Most
of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed in
Renminbi. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net foreign
currency assets amounted to approximately RMB22 million
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB1.2 million).
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
did not utilise any future contracts, currency borrowings
and otherwise to hedge against its foreign exchange
risk. However, the Group will continue to monitor the risk
exposures and will consider to hedge against material
currency risk if required.

o The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since the
beginning of 2020 has led to an overall decline in the global
economy, which in turn contributed to a drop in the level
of customer’s consumption and spending. Despite the
Group’s diversification of business segments on the Existing
PRC Changyou Platform and plans to develop the New
International Changyou Platform, the Group’s business
operations have inevitably been affected. In light of the
operational risks and financial risks associated with the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has proactively adopted
and implemented various strategies and contingency plans
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

An analysis of the Group’s financial risk management (including
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate and currency risks) are
provided in note 26 to the financial statements as disclosed in this
report.

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) has
been established and is responsible for, among other things,
reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of risk
management and internal control of the Group and reviewing and
monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
all legal and regulatory requirements (where applicable). For further
details, please refer to the section headed “Internal Control and
Risk Management” on page 59 of this report.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for the deemed disposal of equity interest in PCL by the
Company as disclosed on page 18 of this report, there were no
significant investments held nor material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021 and
there was no plan authorised by the Board for other material
investments or additions of capital assets as at the date of this
report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

PROSPECTS

The Changyou Platform is a digital assets platform which serves
issuance, circulation, payment and settlement of digital assets
which can be tokenised and a gate point for point redemption.
Leveraging on the smart business environment, the Group utilises
the channel and customer resources of the Changyou Platform
and bring the new resources to merchant, insights into the intrinsic
needs of enterprises and achieve network synergy and win-win
cooperation.

In 2022, the Group will further deepen and expand its two-wheel
drive strategy to consolidate resource allocation of digital asset
resources and explore further the application ecology. The Group
will focus on main site operation under the strategic model of “One
Body and Two Wings”. The operation center is responsible for the
operation of the main site APPs and public account, with an aim to
build a high-quality supply chain and provide operational solutions
to its business partners. The Group will focus on point utilization
improvement for merchants to enhance their sales Changyou
Platform revitalise users for point transactions, and bring into traffic
for card organisations, banks and consumption finance. Relying
on Changyou Platform two basic businesses, the Group will seek
additional profits from the digital point utilisation enhancement
business model under the bonus point transaction scenario. For
our business clients, the Group will provide banks and insurance
companies with rewards and marketing activities support, such
as the parking and charging rewards for car owners. The Group
integrates the marketing resources of Business organisations, and
continues to expand cooperation population and reward business
with banks.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group will continue to strengthen its service provider role
in UnionPay and banking channels, including cooperation in
entertainment and audio-visual, public transportation, parking and
refueling, mass consumption, user promotion, active card users,
event operations and supply chain. By exploring and combining
the business needs of UnionPay, banks and payment institutions
in new year and riding on the existing business models, we will
expand in-depth cooperation with the respective. By leveraging
the flexible mechanism and the advantages of interconnection
of Changyou Platform, the Group aims to achieve the goal of
“maintaining existing business and expanding new business”
for business growth and deepen the joint cooperation model of
“building periphery and promoting synergy”.

In addition, the Group will also strengthen business cooperation
and resource linkage with large enterprises to form a brand
cooperation effect. The Group will also strive to improve users’
activeness and improve all parties’ return by creating business
linkage between merchandise and sales aspects, the Group
will utilise the exclusive and unique quality rewards of the KA
merchants such as head restaurants, big retail, transportation and
travel to enhance their cooperation with UnionPay, banks and
payment institutions. The Group will continue to expand national
and regional cooperation with quality merchants and rewards. So
as to solidify its position as the service provider for the provision of
products and services. The Group will establish direct and deeply
customised equity cooperation with top brands in related industries
to expand the brand influence of Changyou and continuously
increase the loyalty and activity level of Changyou’s point users.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy
has been far-reaching and has led to disruptions to many
businesses across various industries. The development of the New
International Changyou Platform is expected to be delayed under
current situation. However the management of the Company is
initiating a discussion with CIH, a substantial shareholder of the
Company. The parties intend to enter into a memorandum of
undertaking with a purpose of exploring the potential cooperation
of establishing a joint venture to operate the New International
Changyou Platform. Each party will contribute their resources
so as to mitigate the risks and reduce the time to bring the New
International Changyou Platform online in 2022.

Looking ahead, the Group will grasp the huge opportunities
brought by the rapid development of the Internet, big data, artificial
intelligence and SaaS and other cutting-edge technologies, make
good use of the synergy brought by policy support, complement
its own technology, products, services and business model to
create a benchmark cross-industry digital point marketing platform
with points free of circulation, and make it a corporate mission to
explore the value of points and realise the efficient aggregation
and flow of points, and move forward towards the vision of
empowering merchants and promoting the upgrade of their
business capabilities, so as to bring long-term sustainable returns
to its shareholders and investors and the society.
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Since the beginning of 2020, the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the global economy has been far-reaching and has
led to disruptions to many businesses across various industries.
During the year 2020, our business operations experienced short-
term disruptions at the early stage of the COVID-19 outbreak,
due to measures imposed by the Chinese government to respond
to the pandemic, including among other things, the nationwide
lockdowns imposed by the Chinese government, as well as the
mandatory suspension of business operations in China, where our
businesses are principally based.

However, owing to the effective control of the COVID-19 outbreak
in China at a rather early stage, the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the Group has been minimal. While the Group had
recorded a year-on-year decrease in revenue of approximately
57.5% for the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared to
2020, such decrease was not resulted from the impact of the
COVID-19 outbreak but was primarily due to the steps taken by
the Group to refine its business model with an aim to improve its
gross profit. By (i) providing its products to customers with higher
profit margins and (i) gradually reducing sales to customers with
lower profit margins or offered at the most favourable price, which
resulted in the decrease in revenue, the Group’s gross profit from
the business operations of Changyou Alliance and the Changyou
Platform increased to approximately RMB12.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately RMB1.0 million),
representing an increase of approximately RMB11.7 million or
approximately 11.1 times as compared to 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the cash and cash equivalents the
Group amounted to approximately RMB50.4 million, which saw a
year-on-year decrease by approximately 66.9%. Furthermore, as
at 31 December 2021, the current ratio (being total current assets
divided by total current liabilities) of the Group is approximately
1.33. As a result, despite the economic downturn caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group was able to maintain sufficient
liquidity position at the end of the year 2021, and had focused our
resources to fund our operations and fulfil our financial obligations
in relation to the Existing PRC Changyou Business. That being
said, although we are able to continue to develop and maintain
the Existing PRC Changyou Platform, the development of the New
International Changyou Platform is expected to be delayed as the
Group will need to further assess the uncertainties of the impact
of COVID-19 on the development progress and the business
operations of investors and business partners, and the prospects
of consumer spending in relation to the New International
Changyou Platform.
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The biographical details of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) and senior management of the Company during the
year under review, and as at the date of this report, are set out
below:

Mr. Cheng Jerome, aged 69, was appointed as the chairman
and the executive Director on 25 March 2015. He is a member
and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
(“Nomination Committee”), and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”).
He joined Beijing Century Fortunet Technology Co., Ltd (1t &1t
WL E2MEBARAF]) (“OPCo”), a subsidiary of the Company
since 25 March 2015, in December 2014 and previously served
as the chief information officer of OPCo till December 2015. Mr.
Cheng graduated from University Paris 7 with a DEA (D’Etudes
approfondies) French degree in information technology in 1986.
He has working experience of over 24 years in the IT industry,
serving the AXA Group and Oracle Corporation, both of which are
among the Top 500 worldwide fortune companies. From 1986 to
1994, Mr. Cheng served the AXA Group successively as network
engineer and architect, head of network architecture team and
head of information technology system performance.

From 1998 to 2008, Mr. Cheng worked for BEA Systems, Inc., a
company specialized in enterprise infrastructure software products
which was acquired by Oracle Corporation in 2008, as principal
consulting engineer in BEA France, as managing consulting
engineer in BEA France, as pre-sales consulting manager in BEA
APAC region and as senior manager of BEA Technology Centre in
Beijing, China.

In June 2008, Mr. Cheng joined Oracle Systems Hong Kong
Limited as the senior manager of soft development and served
as Principal Solution Architect of Oracle Fusion Middleware world
wide architecture team from May 2010 to December 2014.

Mr. Yuan Weitao, aged 56, was appointed as the executive
Director on 25 March 2015. He joined OPCo in September 2014
and currently serves as a director and executive vice president of
OPCo, and a director of Century East Network Limited (“CEN”).
CEN is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CIH, being a substantial
shareholder of the Company. On 18 February 2021, Mr. Yuan
re-appointed as a director of CIH. Mr. Yuan graduated from
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in
1989 and a master’s degree in engineering in 1992. He has
working experience of over 20 years in international trade,
telecommunications and media industries. Mr. Yuan joined China
National Electronics Import & Export Company (F B E ¥ # H 0
472 7)), administered by the Ministry of Mechanical Electronic
Devices of the People’s Republic of China, after his graduation and
worked in its overseas subsidiary as a marketing manager in 1994.
Mr. Yuan joined CIH as vice president in 1999 and was responsible
for project development and external cooperation of CIH. Mr. Yuan
was a director of CIH from March 2003 to July 2019.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

REBEFEERAREBS  ARREER([ES)) NSRERRE
EERE BRI

Cheng Jerome’ts ' 695% RZT—AF=-A-+HHEZ
FREFERNTES - BAARAREZES(REEEEK
BRER  RARAFFHNEZES ([HFMEEE)KE - FR-F
—FEFZAMALRELEBREERAR([OPCo] » =%
—hF=AZ+HARAERQAFZHEBAR) REHEOPCo BFEE
BEE-ZT—AF+-HAI ° Cheng LER— N/ \NERER
BRELAZ  BRESRNELSMN - HMzBRINTTERES
BAF TR CEBNTEREERTEXRHERAT (A
HMEHAR5008ARF]) « R—/\INFEE— NS - Cheng sti
AR RER - STREERS T2 R 2EHE - MBEBEEK
FERBEERMARKREE -

R=NNNFEZZTZEN\F ' Cheng FLETBNBEA Systems,
Inc. GZARIEFINELEEAEZRMER RZZEZN\FHEFEX
RO BR QG - EEBEAER F 2R TIZA0 - BEAEEE
I2EER TH2AD - BEAZE At @ 5 A EE A4S I8 N A B4k R BEARRIT
PSS REEIE -

RZZZNF/NA ' Cheng FEMAREXEBBRAF @ EE
HEREERLE MR- ZSFAAZ-_Z—NF+ Ak
fEOracle Fusion Middleware % BkZ81E B a) = B AR R 5 REHE
B o

REBERE 565 N_E—HFE=ZA-_t+HAEZTARITE
FoWR T —ENANMAOPCORIRIEOPCOEE M 1TE|
4% - It ACentury East Network Limited ([CENJ)#JE % - CEN
RCHAERRAREZRR)MIEZENBRR) - RZZE=Z—F=A
F+NE REABRIEZFEACHNES - RELBENEEKX
2. NN \NFEIRS224+B8ER— NN _FETIZEHE
T2 - HRBIRE S - B RIEEITEERE20F TIEER -
BEE  REEMABRTEARENBEBE FREDEZEHF
HEF#ELOBAR YR —NAAEFREGINTERBEEE
FEAETE o REAR—NNNEMACIH  EERAET & ECIHIE
BRBERINEE - REEN -_BE=F=RE-_Z—NE+A
EECIHRES



Mr. Yuan has been the general manager of Beijing United Online
Technology Co. Ltd (bt REt A& FELEHE AR A F), a subsidiary of
China Mobile Communications Corporation (1B Ei@EEBE A
7)) in 2000; a vice-president and the representative of the China
office of CMBSat which was a subsidiary of Echostar, one of the
US leading satellite television operators, in 2006; and a vice general
manager of CSMM, a subsidiary of China Telecommunications
Corporation (R E{F5&E A 7)), from 2010 to August 2014.

Mrs. Guo Yan, aged 49, was appointed as the non-executive
Director on 25 March 2015. She has working experience of over
17 years in the IT industry. She has experience in the management
of IT sales and operation of over 15 years. She has led numerous
information/communications technology projects and has extensive
experience particularly in the new mobile internet business model.
Mrs. Guo graduated in testing technology and instruments (&
IR AT B4 82) from Xi’dian University in 1994 and obtained a
postgraduate diploma in astronomical instruments and methods
(R 2381 777%) from the Chinese Academy of Science in 1997.
From 1997 to 2014, Mrs. Guo worked for Huawei Technologies
Co., Ltd EEAEIT AR A F)) as a senior client manager of eastern
China region, a director of mobile system division of China region,
and a director of the IT purchasing division of the China region.
Mrs. Guo also participated in the market development of China
Mobile Communications Corporation (FEEB)@EEE RN F)
in Shanghai as a team leader and acted as a project manager in
the project of the IT centralized purchasing bid of China United
Network Communications Corporations Limited (F BB & B1EH
R R).
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung, aged 67, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 25 March 2015. He is a
member and the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member
of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Wong obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from the University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and CPA Australia
and an associate member of the Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong is also a responsible officer for asset
management and advising on securities for CASDAQ International
Capital Market (HK) Company Limited under the SFO. Mr. Wong
has over 40 years of experience in finance, accounting and
management. Mr. Wong was previously an executive director, the
deputy general manager, group financial controller and company
secretary of Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (now known
as Yuexiu Property Company Limited), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 123) for over ten
years. He is also an independent non-executive director and a
member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited
(stock code: 214), Asia Standard Hotel Group Limited (stock code:
292), Asia Standard International Group Limited (stock code: 129),
Century City International Holdings Limited (stock code: 355),
China Ting Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 3398), Golden
Eagle Retail Group Limited (stock code: 3308), Paliburg Holdings
Limited (stock code: 617), Regal Hotels International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 78), Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited (stock
code: 332) and Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1176), all of which are companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong was also previously an independent non-
executive director of TPV Technology Limited (stock code: 903,
and subsequently privatised on 15 November 2019), Guoan
International Limited (stock code: 143), PacMos Technologies
Holdings Limited (now known as PacRay International Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 1010), ENM Holdings Limited (stock code:
128), Heng Xin China Holdings Limited (stock code: 8046, and
subsequently delisted on 2 July 2019) and China Shanshui Cement
Group Limited (stock code: 691). He was also an independent
non-executive director and a member of the audit committee of
Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited (formerly
known as China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited)
(stock code: 2889) (“NRI Holdings”) until 14 February 2020, being
the date of delisting of NRI Holdings.
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Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan, aged 58, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 25 March 2015. He is a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Mr. Chan is a qualified solicitor admitted in England and Wales
in October 1991 and in Hong Kong in February 1992. Mr. Chan
practiced corporate and commercial law for nearly three decades.
He is an independent non-executive director and a member of
each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8112). He was an independent non-executive director, chairman
of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit
committee and nomination committee of L&A International Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8195) from 25 September 2014 to 19 October 2015 and was
also an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee of
BOSA Technology Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8140) from 19 June 2018 to 29
February 2020. Previously, Mr. Chan was the senior general counsel
of Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1076), which
owns an exclusive casino gaming license in Saipan, Commonwealth
of Northern Mariana Islands; and prior to that, the Vice President,
Legal of NagaCorp Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3918), head of legal services
of The Hong Kong Jockey Club, the Greater China Legal Counsel
for Sun Microsystems and the vice president of Legal Affairs at
Celestial Pictures Limited, a subsidiary of Astro All Asia Networks
Plc., a Malaysian company. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of science
degree in civil engineering from the Aston University of Birmingham,
England and a bachelor of laws degree in China Law from the
China University of Political Science and Law in Beijing, the People’s
Republic of China. Mr. Chan is a registered civil celebrant in Hong
Kong and served as a board director (and former chairman) of
Theatre Space Foundation Limited, a theatrical drama performance
charitable institution. He is a council member of the China Overseas
Friendship Association, Beijing, China (F1 284N st sH & 12 =6),

Mr. Liu Jialin, aged 59, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on 1 April 2017. He is a member and the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the
Audit Committee. Mr. Liu also serves as the independent non-
executive director of Far East Horizon Limited (stock code: 3360)
and was previously the independent non-executive director of
China Merchants Securities Co., Ltd (stock code: 6099). Mr.
Liu has been the managing director of Cinda International Asset
Management Limited since February 2011. From 1992 to 2007,
Mr. Liu worked for Morgan Stanley group of companies and
once served as a member of the Management Committee and
Asia Executive Committee as well as a Managing Director in the
Fixed Income Division in Hong Kong. Mr. Liu has over 20 years
of experience in finance and securities industry. Mr. Liu obtained
a bachelor’s degree in science majoring in physics from Peking
University and a master’s degree in science majoring in physics
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
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Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, aged 39, is the chief financial officer of the
Company since November 2020. Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor
Degree in Mathematics from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. He has over 18 years’ experience in the
corporate finance industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yeung
was the chief financial officer of a private Hong Kong company
in charge of the pre-IPO group restructuring and fundraising for
the period from June 2019 to October 2020. He was the financial
controller of Creation Chance Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as RM
Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 932) from December 2018
to June 2019, mainly in charge of the monitoring the financial
and development of the Hong Kong business. For the period
from September 2014 to August 2018, he was the chief financial
officer of PPS International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8201)
(“PPS”), who was further appointed as the director of PPS during
the period from February 2018 to July 2018, he took charge of
the diversification of the group’s business and establishment of
the PRC branch. Mr. Yeung was the independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of North Mining Shares Company
Limited (stock code: 433) for the period from July 2019 to June
2020.

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy, aged 48, is the financial controller,
company secretary, and one of the authorised representatives
of the Company since June 2015. He graduated from Hong
Kong Baptist University with an Honours Degree with major in
Accounting. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He is an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the audit committee and a member
of each of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited (stock code: 1246).
Mr. Chan has over 20 years’ experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. He had worked in South China Media
Group for 15 years from December 1999 to May 2015 and
his latest position was the deputy financial controller. He had
worked in South China Land Limited (formerly named as Capital
Publications Limited, stock code: 8155) from January 2004 to
June 2008 as the qualified accountant and company secretary.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 May
2008 under The Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands (“Companies
Law”) with limited liability. The shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 September
2010.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
formed a series of joint ventures with the respective subsidiaries
of CCB International, UnionPay Merchant, China Mobile, Bank
of China and China Eastern Airlines, the joint venture companies
which now form part of the Group. For further details of the
formation of the joint ventures, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 22 June 2016, 25 July 2016, 30 August
2016, 13 September 2016, 29 November 2016, 7 December 2016
and 30 June 2017, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report
— Internal Control and Risk Management” of this report. These
discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the financial statements on pages 71 to 72. The
Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company should maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting
its working capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value in recommending or declaring dividend. The
declaration of payment and the amount of dividend will be made at
the discretion of the Board and will depend on the Group’s results
of operations, earnings, financial condition, cash requirements
and availability, future capital expenditure and development
requirements, business conditions and strategies, interests of
shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The
Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to
time.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out on pages 71 to 165.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out on page 76 of this report and in note
25 to the financial statements.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company may be distributable provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In accordance with the article 134 of the Articles, dividends may
be declared and paid out of the profits of the Company or from
any reserve set aside from profits which the Directors determined is
no longer needed. As at 31 December 2021, the Company had no
reserve available for distribution to shareholders of the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out in note 25(c) to the financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or

the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.
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The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 28 June
2010 have expired on 24 September 2020 (the “2010 Share
Option Scheme”). All outstanding share options granted but not
yet exercised under the 2010 Share Option Scheme will continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules of the
2010 Share Option Scheme. In relation to any options granted
under the 2010 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of an option
(“Offer Date”); (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (i) the
nominal value of the Share. The 2010 Share Option Scheme does
not contain any minimum period(s) for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised. However, at the time of granting of
the options, the Board may specify any such minimum period(s).
No options may be exercised more than 10 years from the date of
grant.

As at 31 December 2021, 72,000,000 share options granted to
Cheng Jerome, the chairman and executive Director, under the
2010 Share Option Scheme remained outstanding.

With a view to allowing the Company to grant share options to
eligible participants as incentives or rewards to recognise and
acknowledge their contributions to the Group, the Company
approved and adopted a new share option scheme at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 3 June 2020 (the “2020
Share Option Scheme”). The 2020 Share Option Scheme will
be valid and effective for the period commencing on the date
of adoption of the 2020 Share Option Scheme (being 3 June
2020) and ending on the 10th anniversary of such adoption date
(both dates inclusive), after which no further share options will be
offered but the rules of the 2020 Share Option Scheme will in all
other respects remain in full force and effect. As at the date of
this report, the remaining life of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is
approximately 8.25 years.
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Under the 2020 Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
share options to the Group’s employees, chief executives, officers,
directors, substantial shareholders, advisors, consultants, agents,
suppliers, customers, distributors and such other persons who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed
to the Group. For any share options granted to Directors, chief
executives or substantial shareholders of the Company or any of
their respective associates will be subject to the approval by the
independent non-executive Directors (excluding any independent
non-executive Director who is the proposed grantee). As at the
date of this report, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the 2020 Share Option Scheme was 181,095,327 Shares,
representing 10% of the aggregate number of Shares in issue as
at 3 June 2020 and as at the date of this report. The number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of share options
granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme and other schemes
of the Company to an individual in any 12-month period Offer
Date shall not exceed 1% of the aggregate number of Shares in
issue Offer Date, without prior approval from the shareholders of
the Company. The amount payable by an eligible participant on
acceptance of a share option is HK$1.00, which will be payable
within 30 business days after the date of grant.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be
determined by the Board, but in any event must be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the Offer Date; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, there is
no minimum period for which a share option must be held and/or
any performance targets which must be achieved before a share
option can be exercised. No option may be exercised more than
10 years from the date of grant.

As at 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report, no
option has been granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2021, options to subscribe for 72,000,000
Shares granted pursuant to the 2010 Share Option Scheme were
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outstanding, details of which are set out below and in the note 23 WSR3 ©
to the financial statements:
Outstanding
asat Granted during Lapsed during  Exercised during the Outstanding
1 January the year ended 31 the year ended 31 year ended asat
Name 2021 December 2021 December 2021 31 December 2021 31 December 2021
REZE REZE REZE
RZB=-% ZBI-f —BC-F —BC-F R=B=-%
-B-8  t2AZt-8  tzp=t-8  tZA=t-B  f2A=1-8
%A R LHEECRHY LLEEXN LLEEEAE KT8
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromec 72,000,000 (ot 0 - - - 72,000,000 Mete ) (520)
Note T: GEal

This represents the interest in the underlying Shares to be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of the options granted on 4 May 2018 under the 2010 Share
Option Scheme.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

EENRE T -TFRRE RN —T— \F 1AM B KB REAREE TR
18 T RCE KB ITROMERIR D TP AYME RS o



MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised
approximately 5.3% of the Group’s total sales and the sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customer were approximately
1.5% of the Group’s total sales. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 46.5% of
the Group’s cost of sales and the purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier were approximately 18.7% of the Group’s
cost of sales.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or substantial shareholders (which own more than
5% of the number of issued Shares) has any interest in any of the
five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil its immediate
and long-term goals. To maintain its market competitiveness
within the industry, the Group aims at delivering constantly high
standards and high quality products and services to its customers.
During the year under review, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable and other donations during
the year under review (2020: RMB Nil).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
As at 31 December 2021, the Group held property and equipment

of approximately RMB4.9 million. Details of the movements are set
out in note 11 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES OR OTHER LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares or other listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and as at the date of
this report, the Board comprised the following directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
Mr. Yuan Weitao

Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Guo Yan
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan
Mr. Liu Jialin

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of Mr. Liu Jialin
and Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan will retire from the office of Director
by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years, and each of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
any member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Based
on the contents of such confirmation, the Company considers that
all three independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that
the levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.
Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 28 to 32 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below and the section headed “Material Related
Party Transactions” in note 28 to the financial statements, there
was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director or an entity
connected with such Director is or was materially interested in,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the financial
year ended 31 December 2021 or at any time during the financial
year ended 31 December 2021.
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing business
against the Company or any of its jointly controlled entities and
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this report, at no time during the year under review
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this report, there were no permitted indemnity provisions in force
for the benefit of any Director (whether made by the Company
or otherwise) or any director of an associated company of the
Company (if made by the Company).

The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its directors arising out of corporate activities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2021 are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

REZ-—F+-A=1t—HB ARAEFARSTHRABNREK

HBHBEAINAA R SREEREE (ExREBEMEST
BESLEEGD (B35 RAEMRE ) EXVED ek - HBRRR

HEFPEARIEES LA EROIEXVEFET R8N HMAMEAR
T&Hﬁi“ﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁéﬁn& ?(@?ﬁﬁ?z«mﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ DI A BEGSCH
EFIRAEANERNORR) - IREE S R E RDIF352{F
JARCERIN RGP L Eﬂﬁﬁ’ﬂ&fm& (B HRBETHRITAES
HETEFRZHNIRESTR ([BEFR ) RS AR E R PTH
BROKkR AT

Number of

underlying Approximate

Shares percentage of

comprised in  Shares in issue
Name of Director share options (note 2) Notes

IHEBITRMO

BEEERER BHEDE
EEpE MR EE (FaE2) M =
Mr. Cheng Jerome 72,000,000 3.98% 1

Cheng Jeromet 4

Notes:

1. This represents the interest in the underlying Shares to be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of the options granted on 4 May 2018 under the
2010 Share Option Scheme.

2. The approximate percentage is based on a total of 1,810,953,272 issued
Shares as at 31 December 2021.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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As at 31 December 2021, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives
of the Company) had or deemed or taken to have interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying shares which would fall
to be disclosed under provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

RZEZ—F+ZRA=+—8  BEBAMEM - RIEH 8RR
DR SR VBB IR IEEH MR G EXVEP B2 37302
IEXBTHERAABBREZLELHEIENFI86KEATEZE
AR EmABA LT (MEIERAREERESTTHA
B )T

Approximate
percentage of
Shares in issue

Name of substantial shareholder Nature of Interest Interest in Shares (note 7) Notes
2RITRG
BRESH
FTERRER EEME RoER (F$5E7) FaE
Century Investment (Holding) Beneficial interest 1,196,885,818 (L) 66.09% 1(a)
Limited (“CIH”) 220,000,000 (S) 12.15% 1(b)
BEamiEm
Greater Bay Area Homeland Interest of controlled corporations 271,673,000 (L) 15.00% 2
Investments Limited
EREARAREREGRAT X EE RS
Starr International Foundation Interest of controlled corporations 224,710,691 (L) 12.41% 3
R EE R
Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited Interest of controlled corporations 151,515,000 (L) 8.37% 4
R EEER A A X EE RS
Yang Liu Interest of controlled corporations 148,400,000 (L) 8.19% 5
2% ZiEEE RS
Taiping Trustees Limited Beneficial interest 138,888,000 (L) 7.67% 6

KFEFEBRAR

s o a
EmiEms

L = Long position 47& : S = Short position A&
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(@) CIH is wholly owned by Ms. Pun Tang. As at 31 December
2021, CIH held (i) 598,885,818 Shares (being approximately
33.07% of the total shareholding of the Company); and (i) a total
of 598,000,000 underlying Shares. These underlying Shares
represented: (a) 298,000,000 new Shares to be issued upon
the exercise of the Warrants in full at the initial strike price of
HK$1.38 per Share (subject to adjustments); and (b) 300,000,000
new Shares to be issued upon conversion in full of the 2020
Convertible Bonds at an initial conversion price of HK$0.42 per
Share (subject to adjustments).

(b) On 18 April 2019, a subscription agreement (“Exchangeable
Bonds Subscription Agreement”) was entered into
between CIH and Mega Prime Development Limited (“Mega
Prime”), pursuant to which CIH issued exchangeable
bonds (“Exchangeable Bonds”) to Mega Prime, which are
exchangeable into 220,000,000 Shares. Such underlying Shares
are currently owned by CIH. Subsequently, on 30 July 2019, a
novation deed (“Novation Deed”) was entered into between
Mega Prime as outgoing party, Poly Platinum Enterprises Ltd
(“Poly Platinum”) as incoming party and CIH as continuing party,
pursuant to which all rights, obligations and liabilities of Mega
Prime under the Exchangeable Bonds Subscription Agreement
was novated to Poly Platinum.

As at 31 December 2021, Poly Platinum held 51,673,000 Shares and is
the beneficial owner of the Exchangeable Bonds, which are exchangeable
into 220,000,000 Shares. Poly Platinum is wholly owned by Greater Bay
Area Homeland Development Fund LP (“GBAHD Fund’). Greater Bay
Area Homeland Development Fund (GP) Limited (‘GBAHD GP”) is the
general partner of GBAHD Fund. Greater Bay Area Development Fund
Management Limited (‘GBAD Fund Management”) is the fund manager
of GBAHD Fund. Both GBAHD GP and GBAD Fund Management are
wholly owned by Greater Bay Area Homeland Investments Limited.

As at 31 December 2021, Starr Investments Cayman Il, Inc. and Starr
Investments Cayman V, Inc. were the beneficial owners of 114,801,600
Shares and 109,909,091 Shares, respectively (being approximately
6.34% and 6.07% of the total shareholding of the Company, respectively).
Starr Investments Cayman I, Inc. is wholly owned by Starr International
Cayman, Inc., which is in turn wholly owned by Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Limited. Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Limited and
Starr Investments Cayman V, Inc. are wholly owned subsidiaries of
Starr International Investments Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned
by Starr International Company Inc. Starr International Company Inc.
is wholly owned by Starr International AG, which is wholly-owned by
Starr International Foundation, a charitable foundation established in
Switzerland.

Beijing Enterprises Real Estate (HK) Limited is wholly owned by £ = 4k42
EEARE(EAA], which is in turn wholly owned by Beijing Enterprises
Group Company Limited. Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited is
wholly owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of Beijing Municipality.

Atlantis Investment Management (Ireland) Limited and Atlantis Investment
Management (Hong Kong) Limited are the beneficial owners of
148,400,000 Shares and are wholly owned by Atlantis Capital Holdings
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Yang Liu.

Taiping Trustees Limited is the beneficial owner of 138,888,000 Shares
as trustee of a certain discretionary trust, of which Taiping Assets
Management (HK) Company Limited is investment manager. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Taiping Trustees Limited is China Taiping
Insurance Group Limited, which is ultimately controlled by the State
Council of China.

The approximate percentage is based on a total of 1,810,953,272 issued
Shares as at 31 December 2021.

(@) CIHEPun Tang Z+2&%E - RZT-_—F+=-_A=+—8 "
CIHH57 ()598,885,818 B AR (A (15 8 A R IR HELI33.07% ) + R (i)
4 #£ 508,000,000 A FERARL 19 © ZEARBEARNIE « (@) IRWIATTIE
BEAR1.38 BT SRR ME B AT 12 18 T 37769 298,000,000 ik
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Limited (Mega Prime ) 5]/ 2 % (M RREHRBHE]) -
RIEZ I - CIHRIMega Prime %17 A] RIES (AR ES) -
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ATERCIHIEA - BEf% - R=ZT—NFtA=1H ' Mega Prime(fE
AR HJ7) ~ Poly Platinum Enterprises Ltd ((Poly Platinum]) (#&
BEMAT) RCHWEATE )L T E8RE (EERE)
&1t Mega Prime 78 A] X E RIS TR 1B TRFT AR - BT
R AEFE E 2 Poly Platinum ©

RZZB-—F+=A=+—H  Poly Platinum# 4 51,673,000 f% & 1 &
RAIRBESFNEREAA - 5250 R0 EH A] 78K 220,000,000 ik
5 ° Poly Platinum £ Greater Bay Area Homeland Development Fund LP
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Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
employer and employee are required to make contributions of 5%
of the employees’ relevant income to the scheme, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions made to
the scheme are vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in China participate in the
retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their salaries to these schemes to pay the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group in respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes. For the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group’s total contributions to the
retirement schemes charged in the income statement amounted
to approximately RMB6.4 million (2020: approximately RMBO0.8
million). Details of the Group’s retirement scheme and the basis of
calculation are set out in note 6(b) to the financial statements.

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to
enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s accountability
and transparency. The Company therefore strives to attain and
maintain effective corporate governance practices and procedures.
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 and save as
disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Group’s principal corporate
governance practices are set out on pages 52 to 62 of this report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Issue of warrants

On 26 March 2018, the Company and CIH, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, entered into a warrant subscription
agreement, pursuant to which the Company shall issue,
298,000,000 Warrants to CIH at the subscription price of HK$0.01
per Warrant. For further details of the transaction, please refer
to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Liquidity and Financial Resources — Issue of Warrants” on page 18
of this report.

2020 Convertible Bonds

On 29 July 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with CIH, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which the Company shall issue HK$126.0 million
3.5% 2020 Convertible Bonds to CIH. For further details of the
transaction, please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Liquidity and Financial Resources —
Convertible Bonds” on pages 16 to 17 of this report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s continuing connected transactions were as
follows:

On 3 September 2019, the Company (as lender) and PCL (as
borrower) entered into a facility agreement in relation to a revolving
loan facility to PCL, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “2019 Facility Agreement”). Major terms of the
2019 Facility Agreement are set out below:

Amount of revolving : Up to HK$100 million
loan facility

Purpose of revolving
loan facility

. For developing the digital point business
of PCL’s group of companies and for
capital expenditure and general working
capital of PCL’s group of companies.

. The 3-year period from 31 October
2019 (the date on which the Company is
satisfied that all the conditions precedent
of the facility agreement have been fulfilled
or specifically waived in writing by the
Company).

Facility period

Security . None

Interest . PCL shall pay interest on the outstanding
principal amount of each loan at the rate
of 6.5% per annum.

Directors’ Report

EETWRE

BITRRER

RZZE-\F=ZAZ+RE » AARECH(RRREERIR) AL
REERE R B - Bt - AR 317298,000,00017 F RHEE
FOIH» RBEL/THRREE0OVET - BEARXHHE—FFF
% F2HAREF18AEIERETREDT-RBDESRUHE
IR-BEITRA R — 8 -

“EERFEURRES

R-ZB-TFELA-TNE ARFHECHAER AR ERR)FIL
REEW - Bt - ARFERCIHETT126.08 BB T3.5%H —F
“TEARRES - BRRRZNE—FFHIE - F2HERESE
16217A[ERERwmEDIT-RBE S LI ER-AIARES]

—ff e

AEBNBEBEXZNFITHIINT

REZZE-NAFAA=ZR KRR WERERA) B0 (ERER
N EISL—IERE RS - AR BHAARRREIFZERB AR
BRELBRENRE ((CE-NEREBRE]) - —T-NLFRE
WA EZEREINMT -

BREFMESE @ EZ100B8ET

EREFBERN @ AREDEEERARNEFTEOEBLA
EDBERERFMNEARS L —REEE

BAEHR BE-Z-NETA=+—HEXRFE
AVBLE AR VP B ST R IGT D EIER AR
ARAFEFMEm# R A)EFSFHMHE -

Eip i D

k) DD BEIEERIRE.5% X N EEREFKRE

BATENNE -

IBRBREEARAR T SFENE

45



46

Repayment date 1 The date falling on the expiry of the facility
period, or such later date as may be
agreed between PCL and the Company in
writing, being the date for the repayment
of all loan(s) (together with all interest

accrued thereon) in full.

Voluntary PCL may, at any time after a loan
prepayment has been advanced and prior to the
repayment date, prepay such loan in
whole or in part (together with all interest

accrued thereon), without any penalty.
Reborrowing PCL may reborrow any part of the

revolving loan facility which has been
prepaid or repaid in accordance with the
terms of the facility agreement, provided
that (i) no event of default as set out in
the facility agreement has occurred; and
(i) the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of all loan(s) shall not exceed
HK$100 million at any time during the
facility period.

As at 31 December 2021, PCL is owned as to 47.24% by Pointsea
Holdings Company Limited (“Pointsea Holdings”), 15.75% by
Joy Empire Holdings Ltd, 15.75% by Extra Step Investments
Limited, 15.75% by China Eastern Airlines E-Commerce Co., Ltd,
2.76% by Zhongjin Qizhi (Shanghai) Equity Investment Centre
(Limited Partnership)* (& EE (B&) kiR EH L (BREH)),
and 2.76% by Senran Investment HK Company Limited. Pointsea
Holdings is owned as to 80% by Treasure Ease Holdings Limited
(“Treasure Ease”) and as to 20% by Easylink Payment Network
(Hong Kong) Company Limited. Treasure Ease is owned as to
50.1% by the Company, 30% by Fin-Tech Company Limited (“Fin-
Tech”) and 19.9% by Chance Talent Management Limited. The
Board considers that PCL is a subsidiary of the Company through
its power to control the board of directors of PCL. CIH, being a
substantial shareholder of the Company, holds the entire issued
share capital of Fin-Tech. PCL is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules and the grant
of the revolving loan facility constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 September 2019 and the
circular of the Company dated 15 October 2019.

The proposed annual cap in respect of the revolving loan facility
under the 2019 Facility Agreement for each financial year of the
Company shall not exceed HK$100 million.

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding principal amount of the
revolving loan is HK$100,000,000 which is the highest outstanding
principal amount of the revolving loan during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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On 20 April 2021, the Company (as lender) and PCL (as borrower)
entered into a facility agreement in relation to a revolving loan
facility to PCL, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “2021 Facility Agreement”). Major terms of the
2021 Facility Agreement are set out below:

Amount of revolving : Up to HK$100 million
loan facility

Purpose of revolving
loan facility

. For developing the digital point business
of PCL’s group of companies and for
capital expenditure and general working
capital of PCL’s group of companies.

Facility period . The 3-year period from 31 May 2021 (the
date on which the Company is satisfied
that all the conditions precedent of the
facility agreement have been fulfilled
or specifically waived in writing by the
Company).

Security . None

Interest . PCL shall pay interest on the outstanding
principal amount of each loan at the rate
of 6.5% per annum.

Repayment date : The date falling on the expiry of the facility
period, or such later date as may be
agreed between PCL and the Company in
writing, being the date for the repayment
of all loan(s) (together with all interest
accrued thereon) in full.

Voluntary . PCL may, at any time after a loan
prepayment has been advanced and prior to the
repayment date, prepay such loan in
whole or in part (together with all interest

accrued thereon), without any penalty.
Reborrowing . PCL may reborrow any part of the

revolving loan facility which has been
prepaid or repaid in accordance with the
terms of the facility agreement, provided
that (i) no event of default as set out in
the facility agreement has occurred; and
(i) the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of all loan(s) shall not exceed
HK$100 million at any time during the
facility period.
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As at 31 December 2021, PCL is owned as to 47.24% by Pointsea
Holdings Company Limited (“Pointsea Holdings”), 15.75% by
Joy Empire Holdings Ltd, 15.75% by Extra Step Investments
Limited, 15.75% by China Eastern Airlines E-Commerce Co., Ltd,
2.76% by Zhongjin Qizhi (Shanghai) Equity Investment Centre
(Limited Partnership)* (P& #E% (L8 BRIEREFRL(BREE)),
and 2.76% by Senran Investment HK Company Limited. Pointsea
Holdings is owned as to 80% by Treasure Ease Holdings Limited
(“Treasure Ease”) and as to 20% by Easylink Payment Network
(Hong Kong) Company Limited. Treasure Ease is owned as to
50.1% by the Company, 30% by Fin-Tech Company Limited (“Fin-
Tech”) and 19.9% by Chance Talent Management Limited. The
Board considers that PCL is a subsidiary of the Company through
its power to control the board of directors of PCL. CIH, being a
substantial shareholder of the Company, holds the entire issued
share capital of Fin-Tech. PCL is therefore a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules and the grant
of the revolving loan facility constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 April 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 12 May 2021.

The proposed annual cap in respect of the revolving loan facility
under the 2021 Facility Agreement for each financial year of the
Company shall not exceed HK$100 million.

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding principal amount of the
revolving loan is HK$75,000,000 which is the highest outstanding
principal amount of the revolving loan during the year ended 31
December 2021.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions set out

above has been entered into:

(i) not in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms; and
(iii) in accordance with the terms of the Facility Agreement, and

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The auditors of the Company have performed procedures on
continuing connected transactions set out above and confirmed in
writing to the Board that:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Company’s board of
directors.

(ii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

(i) with respect to the aggregate amount of items each of the
continuing connected transactions set out in the attached
list of continuing connected transactions, nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

None of the related party transactions set out in the section
headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in note 28 to
the financial statements constitutes connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company which is
required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors
confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 21 June 2022 to Friday, 24 June 2022, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to determine who are entitled to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Friday, 24 June 2022, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 20 June 2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by KPMG who shall retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint KPMG as auditor of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Changyou Alliance Group Limited
Cheng Jerome

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view to
being a transparent and responsible organisation which is open
and accountable to the Company’s shareholders. The Board
strives to adhere to the principles of corporate governance and has
adopted sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal
and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal
control, fair disclosure and accountability to all shareholders to
ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of
the Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its
shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve the
corporate governance practices of the Group from time to time
to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to
optimise return for shareholders.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company had complied
with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

THE BOARD

The Board consists of six Directors, two of whom are executive
Directors, one of whom is a non-executive Director and three of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. The functions and
duties conferred on the Board include convening shareholders’
meetings and reporting on the work of the Board to the
shareholders at shareholders’ meetings as may be required by
applicable laws, implementing resolutions passed at shareholders’
meetings, determining the Company’s business plans and
investment plans, formulating the Company’s annual budget and
final accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for dividend
and bonus distributions as well as exercising other powers,
functions and duties as conferred on it by the Articles and applicable
laws. The management team is delegated with the authorities
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operations of the Group. The Board meets regularly to review
the financial and operating performance of the Company, and
considers and approves the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. The composition of the Board is well balanced with the
directors having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate
and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of the Group. The executive Directors, non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors bring a variety
of experience and expertise to the Company.
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The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Jerome (Chairman)
Mr. Yuan Weitao

Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Guo Yan
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan
Mr. Liu Jialin

The biographical details of the current Board members are set out
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 28 to 31 of this report. The list of directors (by category)
is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and the independent non-
executive directors represented over one-third of the Board.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the
contents of such confirmation, the Company considers that all
three independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company’s management team to fulfill their duties and, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All
Directors also have access to the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”) who is responsible for ensuring
that the Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations,
are followed. An agenda and accompanying Board/committee
papers are distributed to the Directors/Board committee members
with reasonable notices in advance of the meetings. Minutes
of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees, which
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed, are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by Directors.
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The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its directors arising out of corporate activities.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company, and considers and approves the
overall strategies and policies of the Company.

There is no other relationship between members of the Board and
the Chairman.

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of
three years, and each of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company and is
appointed for a term of three years.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to
but not less than one third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. In accordance with article 84 of the
Articles, each of Mr. Liu Jialin and Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan will
retire from the office of Director by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Prior to 16 June 2015, the roles and duties of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company were carried out by
different individuals and have been clearly defined in writing. Mr.
Cheng Jerome has been the Chairman of the Board since 25
March 2015 and Mr. Lai Fengcai had been the Chief Executive
Officer until his resignation on 16 June 2015. The positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer had been held by separate
persons in order to preserve independence and a balance of views
and judgement. With the support of the management team, the
Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief
Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies and
strategies approved and delegated by the Board and is in charge
of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations. The
Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, control systems
and internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.

Since the resignation of Mr. Lai Fengcai as Chief Executive Officer
on 16 June 2015, the position of Chief Executive Officer has not
been filled up. The Company is in the process of identifying a
suitable candidate to assume the role as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

The Directors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every newly appointed Director
will receive a formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The Directors also participated in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. They were involved in relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses. All Directors also read
materials in relation to regular update to statutory requirements,
Listing Rules and other relevant topics related to a listed company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of sound corporate governance practices,
the Board has established the following Board committees to
oversee the particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each of these
committees comprises independent non-executive Directors who
are being invited to join as members.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 24 September 2010 in
compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and monitor
the Company’s financial reporting and internal control principles
of the Company and to provide advice and comments to the
Board. The members meet regularly with the external auditors
and the Company’s management team for the review, supervision
and discussion of the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control procedures and ensure that management has discharged
its duty to have an effective internal control and risk management
system. During the year 2021, the Audit Committee consists of
three members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Liu Jialin and
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan, of whom were all independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Wong Chi Keung, who has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters,
was appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under
review to review the financial results of the Group and significant
issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures,
internal control and risk management systems.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the selection and appointment of the external auditors and
the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal
control of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

During the year under review, the Audit Committee was also
responsible for determining the policy for the corporate governance
of the Company performing the corporate governance duties as
below:

o to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and management
team;

o to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of
risk management and internal control of the Group;

o to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements (where
applicable);

o to develop, review and monitor the relevant code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Group; and

o to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance
Report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 24 September
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. During the year 2021, the Remuneration Committee
was chaired by Mr. Liu Jialin with two Directors, namely Mr.
Cheng Jerome and Mr. Wong Chi Keung, as members. The
principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate and recommend remuneration policy to the Board,
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and management team’s
remunerations, approve and review management’s proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors. The Board expects the Remuneration
Committee to exercise independent judgment and ensure that
executive Directors do not participate in the determination of their
own remunerations.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting during
the year under review to review and made recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Company
and remuneration packages of Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 24 September
2010. During the year 2021, the chairman was Mr. Cheng Jerome,
an executive Director, with two Directors, namely Mr. Wong
Chi Keung and Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan, as members. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for determining the policy
for the nomination of Directors, reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board, making recommendation to the Board
on selection of candidates for directorships, appointment and
reappointment of Directors and Board succession and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company adopts the board diversity policy and recognises
board diversity as the key element for the achievement of its
strategic goals and sustainable development. In considering the
composition and diversity of the Board, the Company takes into
account a number of factors from various aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All decisions regarding appointment of members of the
Board will be based on the candidates’ meritocracy having regard
to a set of objective standards that take into account the benefits
of board diversity.

Selection of candidates will be based on a set of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be made with
reference to the candidates’ merits and contributions to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings
of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and the general meeting of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:
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Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General Ordinary
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
3 ENZEE8 ¥HZEEEE REZEgE BRRBFAE RREHAE
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng JeromeZt & 4/4 NATER 11 1 1 1
Mr. Yuan Weitao REBRE 4/4 N/ATER N/A NER NATER il il
Non-executive Director ForEE
Mrs. Guo Yan CiES 3/4 N/A T N/A TiER N/A B 0/ 01
Independent non-executive Directors  BUHHTEE
Mr. Wong Chi Keung ok Vit 4/4 2/2 il 11 il il
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan BREELE 4/4 22 N/A NER 1 11 11
Mr. Liu Jialin fmait 4/4 2/2 il N/A TER 01 0/1
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CODE PROVISIONS IN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Deviation with Code Provision

Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors should
generally attend general meetings of the Company. Mrs. Guo
Yan and Mr. Liu Jialin were not able to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2021 and the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 31 May
2021 due to their other engagement in other commitments.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors,
and all Directors have declared and confirmed that, during the
year ended 31 December 2021, they were in compliance with the
Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy, the Company Secretary, is a full time
employee of the Group and has the knowledge of the Company’s
day-to-day affairs. He also serves as the secretary of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee as organised by the Board from time to time. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company Secretary
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the
Company Secretary is set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” on page 32 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2021 which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date and of the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and are
properly prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with
the applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.
The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration paid
or payable to the Group’s auditors, KPMG, in respect of their

audit and non-audit services are RMB2,350,000 and RMBNIl,
respectively.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests, and
review and monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control and risk management systems on a regular basis so as
to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. The Company has established written
policies and procedures applicable to all operating units to
ensure the effectiveness of internal controls. The internal control
framework also ensures, among other things, that the Company’s
operations are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis by each
department to ensure any inside information and other matters
are identified handled efficiently and in compliance with the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations. The Company also has
a process of identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant
risks to the achievement of its operational objectives. This process
is subject to continuous improvement and has been in place since
24 September 2010 and up to the date of this report. The day-to-
day operation is entrusted to the individual department, which is
accountable for its own conduct and performance, and is required
to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board. The Company
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems from time to time in order to ensure
that they are able to meet and deal with the dynamic and ever
changing business environment.

The risk management framework includes identifying significant
risks in the Group’s operation environment and evaluating the
impacts of those risks on the Group’s business; developing
necessary measures to manage those risks; and monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of such measures. The implementation
of risk management framework of the Group was assisted by the
Group’s internal audit function so that the Group could ensure
new and emerging risks relevant to the Group’s operation are
promptly identified by the management, assess the adequacy of
action plans to manage these risks and monitor and evaluate the
effectiveness of the action plans. These are on-going processes
and the Audit Committee reviews periodically the Group’s risk
management systems.

The Audit Committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy which,
among other things, included the determination of risk factors,
evaluation of risk level the Group could take and effectiveness of
risk management measures. Based on the reports from internal
audit function and the Audit Committee, and also the Board’s
review of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems at least once a year, the Board believes that the existing
internal control and risk management systems are adequate and
effective. The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness, and that such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO REQUISITION
AND CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING (INCLUDING PROPOSING A RESOLUTION AT
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING)

Any two or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholders”) shall at all times have the right, by a written
requisition signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned
(the “Requisition”), to require the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, and to put any resolution so
requisitioned to vote at such extraordinary general meeting.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to requisition the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting for the purpose
of proposing a resolution at the extraordinary general
meeting must deposit the Requisition at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 1908-
1916, 19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting,
and be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The
Eligible Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the
Company to the satisfaction of the Company.

The Company will check the Requisition and vertify the
identities and the shareholdings of the Eligible Shareholders
with the Company’s branch share registrar. If the Requisition
is found to be proper and in order and in compliance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the Board will within 21 days of the date of
deposit of the Requisition, duly proceed to convene an
extraordinary general meeting to be held within a further 21
days, for the purpose of putting any resolution(s) proposed
by the Eligible Shareholders to vote at such extraordinary
general meeting. However, if the Requisition has been
verified as not in order and not in compliance with the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company,
the Eligible Shareholders concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not convene
an extraordinary general meeting and will not put any
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholders to vote
at any such extraordinary general meeting or any other
general meeting of the Company.
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o If within 21 days of the date of deposit of the Requisition,
the Board has not advised the Eligible Shareholders that
the Requisition is not in order and not in compliance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, and the Board has failed to proceed to convene
an extraordinary general meeting, the Eligible Shareholders
themselves (or any one or more of the Eligible Shareholders
who holds more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
the Eligible Shareholders who signed the Requisition) may
proceed to convene the extraordinary general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings may be convened by the Board in accordance
with the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, provided that the extraordinary general meeting
so convened must be held before the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the Requisition. All
reasonable expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholders
concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholders concerned by the
Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders of the
Company and investors. The Board also recognises that effective
communication with its investors is critical in establishing investors’
confidence and attracting new investors. Therefore, the Group is
committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
the investors and the shareholders of the Company will receive
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information of the
Group through the publication of annual reports, interim reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes all
corporate communications on the Company’s website at http://
www.changyou-alliance.com. Further, shareholders of the
Company may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong. The Board maintains regular dialogues with
institutional investors and analysts from time to time to keep them
informed of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and
plans. The Directors and members of various board committees
will attend the annual general meeting of the Company and answer
any questions raised. The resolution of every important proposal
will be proposed at general meetings separately.

The chairman of general meetings of the Company would explain
the procedures for conducting a poll before proposing a resolution
for voting. The poll results will be announced at general meetings
and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, respectively. In addition, the Company regularly meets
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media,
and promptly releases information related to any significant
progress of the Company, so as to promote the development of
the Company through mutual and efficient communications.
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During the year under review, there was no change to the REREEE  AARNEEXHILEES) - RE - K& E RIEE
constitutional documents of the Company. Shareholders, investors AIEB T A ARAARRREEER

and the media can make enquiries to the Company through the

following means:

Telephone number: (852) 2776 8500 EaE 0 (852) 2776 8500

By post: Room 1908-1916, R - BASHHEEI0N
19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, FBEP 198
30 Harbour Road, 1908-1916%
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Attention: Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Billy B PREESA

By email: ir@fortunet.com.hk T ir@fortunet.com.hk
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Independent Auditor's Report
VA R

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Changyou Alliance Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Changyou Alliance Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 165,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

HEHBESEERAF
(REASHETMALZFRLF])
IRER B B &

=R

ARIZERED (A TR 2 P)) EFF FIHNE 712551658
MEHRBESEARAR (ERA)]) REWE R R (5HE
[E5E ) MEGREMBERE - BB REER_T_—%F
T A=+ BNEA MR RREREZ R I FE AR
AHEaX GeEalkEMEEKER  SeEREHER
MizaRERER  WREAMBHRERWE - BRRTES
FHHCRIEE

BARR  ZEFEVBRRERBEELESHMAS (&
ABEFEAR ) BN CEBUBRELEL) ([BEMER
SEADEEMPAHURR T ERER _T_—F+_A4
=+ —BNEEMBRRREEZA LFENERSPTER
ANGERERE  WEEREE(RFED) 2 RERE

RRNER

HMERBEEESHMASRAN(EERALEL) (B
BEHEQ D) ETES - ROEZSENTAENEECDE
AR EZBENA BT RV BRI AENEERL DD IEE
—ZHt - REFESAMASEMOCEXSHANBRE
TR (57 A A K2 5 2 B S BB P18 4R & M R
MBETBRRERENR - WMBYNESRE  YEETZ
SHRERTAPNEMBEZBRET - HFIAAE - R
ERNETIREETEEE SR ANE LR -



MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that Group incurred net loss
of RMB124,863,000 and net operating cash outflows of
RMB103,394,000 during the year ended 31 December
2021, and had net liabilities of RMB62,216,000 as at 31
December 2021. The Group’s ability to meet its liabilities
depends on its ability to generate sufficient cash flows
from future operations and/or other sources. As stated
in Note 2(b), these events or conditions, along with other
matters set forth in Note 2(b), indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going
concern section, we have determined the matter described
below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in
our report.

Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies in Note 2(v).
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Key Audit Matter

The principal activities of the
Group are the development
and operation of an
electronic trading platform
to promote and facilitate
awards earned by customers
of loyalty programmes of
other companies to be
exchanged globally in the
form of virtual assets and
credits for consumption
of merchandises, games,
services and other
commercial transactions
and other trading business.
The Group mainly generates
revenue in the way of sales
of goods and provision
of services. Revenue of
RMB114,211,000 was
recognised for the current
year.

The Group’s revenue
comprises a high volume
of individual transactions.
The Group maintains
sophisticated information
technology systems to
process a large volume
of data arising from these
transactions, including
details of the date and time
of delivery of the goods sold.
The completeness, existence
and accuracy of the Group’s
revenue is highly reliant on
the information technology
systems.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited

How the matter was
addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to
assess revenue recognition
included the following:

e Discussing major business
scenarios available on the
electronic trading platform
with management and
evaluating their judgements
made in determining
whether the Group is a
principal or an agent in an
arrangement and the timing
of revenue recognition, by
inspecting agreements with
business partners/suppliers
and observing operation
of selected business
scenarios mentioned
above;

Involving our internal
information technology
specialists to evaluate the
design, implementation
and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls
over the capturing and
processing of revenue
transactions, including
the completeness,
existence and accuracy
of the transaction details
contained within the
Group’s information
technology systems;

e Assessing the design,
implementation and
operating effectiveness of
key manual internal controls
over revenue recognition of
major business scenarios
available on the electronic
trading platform;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued)

How the matter was
The Key Audit Matter addressed in our audit
We identified the recognition of e Comparing the details of
revenue as a key audit matter ~ the monthly manual journal
because the Group’s revenue is  entries relating to the
significant to the consolidated  input into the accounting
financial statements and system of revenue with
involves complicated the reports generated by
information technology the information technology
systems, all of which give rise  systems, on a sample
to an inherent risk that revenue  basis; and
could be incorrectly recorded
in the period.

Comparing the cash
receipts with the underlying
data from information
technology systems used in
the transaction processes,
on a sample basis.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor's Report
BN IZ B

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor's Report
RV A EE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wan Chi Yau, Charles.

KMPG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= \/
e =
for the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T—-—F+-A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi (‘RMB”)  (IAARE (AR 5I7R)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECTF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
PisE AR®T T ARBT T
Revenue WA 4 114,211 268,841
Cost of sales SHERAR (101,538) (267,796)
Gross profit EX 12,673 1,045
Other income E e 5 565 669
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD HAX (24,220) (25,270)
Administrative expenses TE R (51,939) (45,005)
Research and development costs DD PN (38,978) (36,1898)
Impairment (loss)/gain on trade and B 5 R H Ab EWGRIRRE
other receivables (B518) /Wex 26(a) (909) 29,673
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 1 & E R ERF 2 6(c) (888) =
Loss from operations KEEE (103,696) (75,076)
Finance costs BhE AR 6(a) (20,429) (6,444)
Loss arising from changes RIERZRAZ 2 HERTE
in fair value on held-for-trading B EEREE
investments 15 (738) (674)
Loss before taxation RRELAIE 18 6 (124,863) (82,194)
Income tax Frig i 7 - =
Loss for the year FABE (124,863) (82,194)
Attributable to: BUR AT FEAG
Equity shareholders of the Company ~ ZNA AI#EZR LR (49,467) (1,652)
Non-controlling interests Pt (75,396) (80,542)
Loss for the year FREE (124,863) (82,194)
Loss per share SREE
Basic and diluted (RMB cent) ERL#E(ARES) 10 (2.73) (0.09)

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial FE79E Z165B M AZEMBHE 2 —HD °
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reBmEmeEmia

for the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-T—-—&F+_-A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in RMB) (A AR¥EFII7R)

2021 2020
—E-—-F T -FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT AR¥ETT

Loss for the year FRBE (124,863) (82,194)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEKE BRBE)

(after tax):
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to HigngesshoBEEBammIag

profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on translation of financial ~— & LASNE s HE M B TS R K

statements denominated in foreign currencies EREBEEVNEEHIER =5
into the Group’s presentation currency (982) (8,919)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREHEKREE (125,845) (86,113)
Attributable to: LT AL :
Equity shareholders of the Company PIN/NETL 5y (50,449) (5,571)
Non-controlling interests IR R (75,396) (80,542)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAZHERRBEE (125,845) (86,113)

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial F79E =165 M AZEVEHRER 2 —EH -
statements.

/2 Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FARILZR

R-Z-—4+-A=+-A

I\‘/—_I_\ =) /\ﬁ

at 31 December 2021

At At
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
R-B=—F PRZZT-TF
+=HA=+—-H +=ZH=+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AREET T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment LEYSET = 11 4,889 12,388
Intangible assets B AE 12 - =
Goodwil BEES 13 - =
4,889 12,388
Current assets REEE
Held-for-trading investments FIERXSREZIRE 15 910 1,685
Inventories FE 16 633 1,408
Trade and other receivables B 5N E bR IE 17 134,154 122,185
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEIER 18 50,426 152,273
186,123 277,551
Current liabilities )ﬁ@JEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMEFRIE 19 137,308 133,685
Lease liabilities %EETE\% 21 2,792 7,461
140,100 141,146
Net current assets REEETFE 46,023 136,405
Total assets less current liabilities ZAEERRBERE 50,912 148,793
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Convertible bonds Al MR ES 20 63,284 50,489
Lease liabilities HESE E 21 788 2,377
Loans from an equity shareholder RERAR]—BHER
of the Company Hx%Zfﬁm 22 49,056 33,666
113,128 86,532
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BB EEFE (62,216) 62,261

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial

statements.

(Expressed in RMB)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR e BRI R

at 31 December 2021 R-Z-—F+-F=+—H
(Expressed in RMB) (A AR¥FI7R)
At At
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
R-B-—F RIZFF
+=—BA=+—HB +=ZA=+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR¥T T AREFIT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR#EE 25
Share capital f& A 117,812 117,812
Reserves & 193,310 243,263
Total equity attributable to equity A AFEZRRE(LEREEE
shareholders of the Company 311,122 361,075
Non-controlling interests IR (373,338) (298,814)
(TOTAL EQUITY - DEFICIT)/TOTAL (#2% — B 4li48%8) XA
EQUITY (62,216) 62,261

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 30 March 2022.

Cheng Jerome
Cheng Jerome
Director (Chairman)
EE(1E)

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial
statements.
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Balance at 1 January 2020

Changes in equity for 2020:

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Issuance of convertiole bonds (Note 20)

Balance at 31 December 2020

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
S

F+ZA=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in RMB) (LA AR¥75I7R)

=1
nﬂ‘ T

for the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=-ZT—

Attributable to equty shareholders of the Company

ROTERRRRER

Non-
Share Share Captal ~ Bxchenge Other  Accumulated contraling Tota
captal premium Teene T6SeVe resene losses Total interests equty
Ra RhEE  EnBE  ERBR  EbEE  EHBE fiT HikER s
RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD
ARETL  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR
MNote25()  (Note 25(c)  MNote25(0i)  (Note 25(0)  (Note 25(c)i)
(ko) (Hskoma)  (Risosiol)  (PsEosii) (BesEosiolh)
H-5-5E-F-RekH 17812 1263789 1423 5372 08 (119074) T4 (@8 816
T3oREVERE:
TERRE - - - - - (1652) (165 (B0s (2194
KEREM2ENR - - - (3919 - - (3919 - (3919
KERRENGEE - - - (3919 - (1652) BoT)  BORY 6119
BmARES (k) - - 59212 - - - 59212 - 5212
it gl 3 S g 17812 1263789 7863 1453 078 (114139 10T (8814 6221

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial

statements.
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Comso\idatpd Statement of Changes in Equity
AEREBE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-T—-—&F+_-A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in RMB) (A AR¥EFII7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARERRES
Non- Total
Share Share Capital  Exchange Other  Accumulated controlling  equity/(Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests —equity-deficit)
figs/
(E%-FY

Re  BHEE  EABE  EXRE  BHRE  RiER At FERER %)
RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTn  ARETz  ARBTr  ARBTz ARETR ARETn ARBTR ARETR  ARETR
(Note 25(c))  (Note 25(a))) (Note 25(d)l) (Note 25(ci) (Note 25(c)(v)

(Wss(e)  (skosia)i) (REsEos(a)  (REss(eli) (NE25(e)i)

=

Balance at 1 January 2021 H-B--§-F-AzEh | 11_7,_81_2_ . j,?()'_3,_78_9 _____ 7_8??5_ - _1;45_3 _____ 4_0,_77_8_ ~ _(1,14_1,39_2! L ?6_1,0?5_ . (?9_8,81_4! L _6_2,_26_1_ |
Changes in equity for 2021; “3T-F2RRRE:

Loss for the year KERER - - - - - (dodeT)  (odeT) (15398 (124:869)
Other comprehensiveincome fortheyear  REEEM2ANE - - - (962) - - (982) - (982)
Total comprefiensive income for heyer B2 ERGEE - - - (982 - (dod6T) (0449 (15398  (125:849)

Contrbutons arsing from the waive ofnterest - S48 B E £ #1ik3t (H302)

expenses (Note 22) - - - - 205 - 205 812 10
Efecton equiy arsng fom the disposal ofa i ERERHT-EIELT

subsidary under common contol Note 27)  SERHFE (307) - - - - 2 - 21 - 201

- - - - 49 - 49 812 1,368

Balance at 31 December 2021 HoB--§-f=t-AzkH 1H1g 1,263,789 78635 4 M4 (110085 S0 (B30 (62216)

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial F79E =165 M AZEV KRR 2 —E5 -
statements.
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Operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation expenses
Finance costs
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets
Loss arising from changes in fair value
on held-for-trading investments
Interest income
Net loss on disposal of property
and equipment
Changes in working capital:
Decrease in inventories
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other
payables

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating
activities

Investing activities

Payments for purchase of property
and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property
and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of held-for-
trading investments

Proceed from disposal of a subsidiary,
net of cash disposed of

Repayment of loans from a third party

Interest received

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial

statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

mr/\ﬂ%ﬂiumEEEE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-T-—F+=-A=+—HIFE

RS

BRI AT &R

LA BIREH AR -
FERX

BB RN

B REEERERE
FERX Mg AR
HEEL MBI

M BUA
HEMERREBRFE

LEETES

R D

B 5 N U IRIE AN

B 5 MEMEN A
1#m, Ord)

FE

REmARSE
BT

REFHRARSFE

REEH
BEMELRB MR

&Y M RE TSR

HERERZRBEZIE
PS8

HE— R B A FIFT S 2R
MK HERS
EBEREBE=ZHZER
B E

REEH (FTA), P
RE 3

798 E

(Expressed in RMB) (A A R#51I7R)

2021 2020
—B-—F  _T_%f
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
fiisE ARMTR  ARETR
(124,863) (82,194)
6(c) 9,258 11,563
6(a) 20,429 6.444
6(c) 888 _
15 738 674
5 (56) (93)
° 93 108
775 395
(13,513) (32,540)
2,857 (8,532)
(103,394) (104,245)
(103,394) (104,245)
(506) (1,111)
- 30
- 158
(80) _
= 31,229
56 93
(530) 30,399

165 B MRE A% EM KR 2 — &b

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

MEHRERER
for the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZT-_—F+-_A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in RMB) (LA A R# 51|77
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
PisE AR®T T ARBT T
Financing activities RESEE
Proceeds from the issuance of BT EFFTS R
convertible bonds, net of MR 5
transaction costs 18(b) - 107,877
Payments for the redemptions of B TR ES 2
convertible bonds 18(b) - (28,269)
Loans from an equity shareholder of B ARA Al — &SRR
the Company Z‘étﬁ 18(b) 16,796 35,125
Deposit refunded to a third party in RBE—RFE = HHEAEE—H
connection with a terminated capital IFEENBRRRIETE
injection into a non-wholly owned Epiren
subsidiary of the Group 18(b) - (10,000)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERE 2 BRI 18(b) (8,009) (7,215)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ 2NHER S 2 F 835D 18(b) (576) (1,305)
Finance costs paid BRI E R 18(b) (4,389) (1,541)
Net cash generated from REEEBRSFHR
financing activities 3,822 94,672
Net (decrease)/increase in cash iﬁ%&ﬁ%%ﬁlﬁ B
and cash equivalents W) KR (100,102) 20,826
Cash and cash equivalents R—B—BZzHRE&R
at 1 January RE&%EEER 18(a) 152,273 137,839
Effect of foreign exchange ExgEH o HE
rate changes (1,745) (6,392)
Cash and cash equivalents RTZB=+—HZEER
at 31 December HEEEER 18(a) 50,426 152,273

The notes on pages 79 to 165 form part of these financial FI9ORE165E W AZEMBHRE 2 —5D °

statements.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Changyou Alliance Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 May
2008 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The shares of the Company were listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 24 September 2010.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are the development and operation of an electronic
trading platform to promote and facilitate awards
earned by customers of loyalty programmes of
other companies to be exchanged globally in the
form of virtual assets and credits for consumption of
merchandises, games, services and other commercial
transactions and other trading business.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group
for the current accounting period reflected in
these financial statements.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December
2021 comprise the Group.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for held-for-trading investments
(see Note 2(f)) and derivative financial
instruments (see Note 2(g)) which are stated at
their fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed
in Note 3.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group had net loss of RMB124,863,000
and net cash used in operating activities of
RMB103,394,000, and had net liabilities of
RMB62,216,000 as at 31 December 2021. The
Group will be unable to meet its liabilities in full
when they fall due unless it is able to generate
sufficient cash flows from future operations
and/or other sources, since as at 31 December
2021, the Group only had cash and cash
equivalents of RMB50,426,000. These events
or conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

In this regard, the directors of the Company
have identified various initiatives to address
the Group’s liquidity needs, which include the
following:

o The Group continues to streamline
its operations by deployment of the
necessary resources to profitable
business lines, including continuance in
reduction of current workforce or increase
in workforce only if profitable business
opportunities arise;

° As described in Note 30, the Group
entered into an agreement with an
investor in July 2020, and the both parties
shall use all reasonable efforts within their
respective capacity to fulfill the conditions
precedent set out in the agreement on or
before 30 June 2022 or such later date as
may be agreed between the both parties
in writing and proceed to completion of
the transaction. Up to the date of issue
of these financial statements, this capital
injection is still under negotiation and has
not yet been completed; and/or

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R i ot

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBASN + UAREFIR)

2

EPN - )

(b)

MBHRROEREZE (F)

BE-_Z-—H+-A=1t—HILFE K&
BB 18558 A A R 124,863,0007T & &R
TR & F 5 A ARE103,394,0007T * LA
ER-—ZE-—F+-_A=+—0 " BEF8EA
AR¥62,216,0007T ° BrIEAREE LSRR
BEN/SEMRBRELARHRESRE A
AEBBELIRBEZEIHEE  NEAR-Z
——F+-A=t—H8 AEBBRENELE
EIER 2 A ARMES50,426,0007T ° 25 E ek
BRBERFEAREE N EBEEIFE S X
e NEEEARMMEANTHAREZE -

St - ARBEZCHRIZ B EARRAE
BHRBHESHEL  BEATEE:

. ARBMEEBANTRANEBRDEL
BERLEHLLE - D EMEENE
MBBN - SEERRT RN LGRS
FENSH

o HWMIFESOFTM - AKBN_T_TF
Tt AR—-ZREET U FINES
RREZEBRENEBEAZMESELZN
URZZBZ—FRA=THHATNES
Al REE M E VA B ERIR B IS Z Al E
P 195 5 FT 3 B S R R 1+ AR (B SERN AR
5 BEZFUWBHRRTNEBY %%
BEEEmS - BRARZER - R%

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE

81



82

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (continued)

° The Group commences discussion
with its immediate and ultimate holding
company, Century Investment (Holding)
Limited (“Century Investment”), to provide
the necessary financial support when
requires, including but not limited to:

(i) provision of the drawdown of the
Group’s unused loan facilities
with Century Investment of
HK$51,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB41,698,000)
(see Note 22); and/or

(i)  extension of the repayment dates
of the convertible bonds issued to
and loans already drawn down from
Century Investment (see Notes 20
and 22).

Based on the cash flow forecast of the Group
prepared by the management and assuming
success of the above measures, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the
Group would have adequate funds to meet
its liabilities as and when they fall due at
least twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company consider it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. Should the Group
be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively. The effect of
these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

- Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16,
Interest Rate Benchmark Reforrm — phase
2

- Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-
related rent concessions beyond 30 June
2021

The Group previously applied the practical
expedient in HKFRS 16 such that as lessee
it was not required to assess whether
rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic were
lease modifications, if the eligibility conditions
are met. One of these conditions requires
the reduction in lease payments affect only
payments originally due on or before a specified
time limit. The 2021 amendment extends this
time limit from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

None of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. Other than
amendment to HKFRS 16, the Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting
period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are considered.
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(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
interests in a subsidiary not attributable directly
or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those equity interests
which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of
those equity interests that meets the definition
of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Changes in the Group’s equity interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative equity interests, but no adjustments
are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

()

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
equity interests in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any equity interests retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset (see Note 2(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(k(ii),
unless the investment is classified as held-for-
sale.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of:

()  the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the
acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)). Goodwill
arising on a business combination is allocated
to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination and is
tested annually for impairment (see Note 2(K)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during
the year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the
profit or loss on disposal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

(9)

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in
equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are
set out below.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 26(e). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows.

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 2(V)(iv).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting
period the fair value is remeasured. The gain
or loss on remeasurement to fair value is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

(i)

Property and equipment

The items of property and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Note 2(Kk)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property and equipment
are determined as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item and are recognised in profit or loss
on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
of items of property and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Estimated useful lives
Leasehold improvements 3 -5 years
Motor vehicles and other 3-5years

equipment

Right-of-use assets Over the term of lease

Where parts of an item of property and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the estimated useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Expenditure on research and development
activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life
is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(k)
(ii)). Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. Both the period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)]

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)]

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of
the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted to
their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see Notes 2(h) and 2(k)

().

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)]

(k)

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic and
met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16, Leases. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the
change in consideration as negative variable
lease payments in profit or loss in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECLS”) on
financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables) and
contract assets.

Financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities measured
at FVPL, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of trade and
other receivables and contract assets are
discounted using the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof where the effect of
discounting is material.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from
possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date;
and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which
the ECL model applies.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs
when the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held).
The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continueq)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of
principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

= an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

= an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in
the market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the
Group.

Depending on the nature of the
financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment
is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics, such
as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA AN » AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continueq)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with
a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance
with Note 2(v(iii) is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset
is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(continueq)

- it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

- significant changes in the market,
economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject
to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets;

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets
(continued)
- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, for goodwill, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

IR R HI 5
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXREHBEKGE@E

(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) GFEBFEREEREGE
(continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (i) EMEEHE E)
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than
goodwill, an impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year
(see Notes 2(k)(i) and 2(k(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an
interim period in respect of goodwill are
not reversed in a subsequent period. This
is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at
the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.

() Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories
Inventories are assets which are held for
sale in the ordinary course of business.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Inventories and other contract costs
(continued)

(i)

(ii)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss
occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventories (see Note 2(1)(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs
to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.qg.
an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised
in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are
expensed when incurred.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Inventories and other contract costs
(continued)

(i)  Other contract costs (continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future; and are
expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only
because the Group entered into the
contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a
contract are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Impairment losses
are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset
exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (i)
any costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not yet
been recognised as expenses.

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the
Group recognises revenue (see Note 2(v))
before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out
in the contract. Contract assets are assessed
for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out
in Note 2(k)(i) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see Note 2(n)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities

(n)

(o)

(continued)

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(v)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see Note
2(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability
is presented. For multiple contracts, contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue
has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see
Note 2(m)).

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method and including an allowance for credit
losses (see Note 2(K)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(k(i).

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see Note 2(x)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.

Convertible bonds

(i) Convertible bonds that contain an
equity component
Convertible notes that can be converted
into ordinary shares at the option of the
holder, where a fixed number of shares
are issued for a fixed amount of cash or
other financial assets, are accounted for
as compound financial instruments, i.e.
they contain both a liability component
and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability
component of the convertible bonds is
measured at the fair value based on the
future interest and principal payments,
discounted at the prevailing market rate
of interest for similar non-convertible
instruments. The equity component is
the difference between the initial fair
value of the convertible bonds as a whole
and the initial fair value of the liability
component. Transaction costs that relate
to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to
the allocation of proceeds.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r) Convertible bonds (continued)

U

(ii)

Convertible bonds that contain an
equity component (continued)

The liability component is subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Interest
expense recognised in profit or loss on
the liability component is calculated using
the effective interest method. The equity
component is not remeasured and is
recognised in the capital reserve until
either the bonds are converted.

If the bonds are converted, the capital
reserve, together with the carrying
amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred
to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the shares issued.

Other convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which do not contain
an equity component are accounted for as
follows:

At initial recognition the derivative
components of the convertible bonds
are measured at fair value as derivative
financial instruments (see Note 2(g)). Any
excess of proceeds over the amount
initially recognised as the derivative
components are recognised as the host
liability components. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the host liability
and derivative components in proportion
to the allocation of proceeds. The portion
of the transaction costs relating to the
host liability components are recognised
initially as part of the liabilities. The portion
relating to the derivative components are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The derivative components are
subsequently remeasured in accordance
with Note 2(g). The host liability
components are subsequently carried
at amortised cost. Interest expenses
recognised in profit or loss on the host
liability components are calculated using
the effective interest method.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r) Convertible bonds (continued)

(ii)  Other convertible bonds (continued)

If the bonds are converted, the shares
issued are measured at fair value and
any differences between the fair value
of shares issued and the carrying
amounts of the derivative and host
liability components are recognised in
profit or loss. If the bonds are redeemed,
any differences between the amounts
paid and the carrying amounts of both
components are recognised in profit or
loss.

(s) Employee benefits

(i

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts
are stated at their present values.

The Group’s contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are charged
to profit or loss when incurred.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in
capital reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model, taking
into account the terms and conditions
upon which the share options were
granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value
of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the share options will vest.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

(t)

Employee benefits (continued)

(i)  Share-based payments (continued)
During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to vest
is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of the share
options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the capital reserve until either the share
option is exercised (when it is included in
the amount recognised in share capital
for the shares issued) or the share option
expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination
benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that they relate to business combinations,
or items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are those
temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax
balances, and movements therein, are
presented separately from each other and are
not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t)

(u)

Income tax (continued)

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities
on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be
reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

v)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods or the
provision of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and
other income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the
customer takes possession of and
accepts the products. If the products
are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services,
then the amount of revenue recognised
is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

(i)  Service income
Service income from the rendering of
services is recognised when the services
are rendered.

(iiij)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues under the effective interest
method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset (see Note 2(K)())).
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B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA AN » AAREFIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income

(iv) Dividends
Dividend income from equity investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s
right to receive payment is established.

(v) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in
the statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as other income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and
consequently are recognised as other
income over the useful life of the asset.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year
are translated into the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency of the entity to which they
relate at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the entity initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

(x)

v)

(continued)

The results of operations which have a
functional currency other than RMB, the
Group’s presentation currency, are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the
closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of the key
management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRHEHAIN - AARESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(y) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

U)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vil)

(viil

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group.

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

@)

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel
services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

@

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services,
and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Note 26(e) contains information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating
to fair value of financial instruments. Other
significant sources of estimation uncertainties
and critical accounting judgements made by
the management are as follows:

(i) Expected credit losses on receivables
The credit losses for trade and other
receivables are based on assumptions
about the expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, which are
based on the Group’s past collection
history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. For
details of the key assumptions and
inputs used, see Note 26(a). Changes
in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of
the assessment and the Group may
be necessary to make additional loss
allowances in future periods.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(i) Determining the lease term

As explained in policy Note 2(j), the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term. In determining the
lease term at the commencement date
for leases that include renewal options
exercisable by the Group, the Group
evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive
for the Group to exercise the option,
including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the
importance of that underlying asset
to the Group’s operations. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a
significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s
control. Any increase or decrease in the
lease term would affect the amount of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
recognised in future periods.

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the
development and operation of an electronic trading
platform to promote and facilitate awards earned by
customers of loyalty programmes of other companies
to be exchanged globally in the form of virtual assets
and credits for consumption of merchandises,
games, services and other commercial transactions
and other trading business. The directors of the
Company consider the above is the only business of
the Group, and accordingly, no segment information is
presented.
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4

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers is analysed as follows:

Revenue from contracts with BB KR
customers within the scope of HERZ
HKFRS 15 disaggregated by major ZIXEE
products or service lines and by AR
timing of revenue recognition

Revenue from facilitation of digital point B 3BAC & &
business through operation of an (b
electronic platform and other trading L OANE
business:

— Point in time —RE(E
— Qver time —BEER

The Group’s customer base is diversified. There
was no customer with whom transactions
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: no
customer with whom transactions exceeded
10%). Details of concentrations of credit risk
arising from the Group’s debtors are set out in
Note 26(a).

Geographic information

All of the Group’s revenue for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 were generated
from sales and services to customers in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). All of
the non-current assets of the Group are either
physically located or allocated to operations in
the PRC.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBAIN + UAREFIR)

4  WBWAGE

(a) WAZD
BEEAHZWAS D 2T

2021 2020
—E—F —ECEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREFIT
HAERIE1555
BEEAHZWA
BERBEER
KR &5
FEEREERT
REAMI PR
AF 5] 25 111,391 268,696
5] 2,820 145
114,211 268,841

AEFBRFERZ T BE-_T—_—F+=
A=Z+—HILFE HSMEREFIZBBAE
BERA10% (ZE-_ZF : EETEIFEBR
10%) - NEBEWERELENEERBEP T
Z ISR EE26(a) ©

(b) HFER
AEEREE_T_—FR_F_FTF+_A
=t+—HIEFENRAERABRREARK
ME([HPE]DEPHERRBEL - NEEHR
BIRBDEEER NP BRI OEAETE
HE -

—T—FEFR

Mt
it
pes
off

BB EEEARAR

115



116

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA A + AAREFIR)

5 OTHER INCOME 5 Hftiz=
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Interest income A B A 56 93
Government grants BRAT# B - 336
Net loss on disposal of property and HEMERSBZEEFE
equipment (93) (108)
Others EHAh 602 348
565 669
6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6 KRBIAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BRI ESRACHIRR BT A) AN S IBERIER ¢
(crediting):
(a) Finance costs: (a) BB :
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Interest expenses on lease liabilties ~ FEBEF SR (H:E11(b))
(Note 11(0)) 576 1,305
Finance charges on convertible bonds AR EAE 75 & F (i 5£20)
(Note 20) 18,113 5,861
Interest expenses on loans froman ~ KEAARRA R —HESBREZERZ
equity shareholder of the Company & 853 (H5F22)
(Note 22) 2,047 668
21,636 7,834
Net foreign exchange gain HNEE U 2 F KB (1,207) (1,076)
Gain on redemptions, extinguishment &[] « j&18 KRR EH 2
and recognition of convertible bonds 4z (Fi#3520)
(Note 20) - (314)
20,429 6,444
No borrowing costs have been capitalised for (E=T - —FF+_A=1T—HILFE I

the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:

RMBNIl).
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6

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(b)

Staff costs:

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Termination benefits (Note (i)

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans (Note (i)

Notes:

(i) In a view to further streamline the Group’s
business operations, the Group paid certain
termination benefits to reduce its workforce in
2021 and 2020.

(ii) The employees of the subsidiaries of the
Group established in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) participate in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes managed by the
local government authorities, whereby these
subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
schemes at a rate of 16% (2020: 16%) of
the employees’ basic salaries. Employees of
these subsidiaries are entitled to retirement
benefits, calculated based on a percentage of
the average salaries level in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong), from the above mentioned
retirement schemes at their normal retirement
age.

¥ TERHMER
R AR (P E()
[A) S IE R IRET &I R

(B 7))

Notes to the Financial Statements

RIF5 ¥R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA BB + AAREFIR)

6 FRBLATEER ()

(b) BIMA:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T AREFT
66,667 77,881
7,960 1,122
6,352 829
80,979 79,832

Fis

) RE-TEHLAEEERBLE AKER_F
ZERITCEEXINETRIEEN AR
HEg 7 -

(i) AEERFECTRIEERSD)KILAME QB
EE2MNE METHE T E N R T R]IRKE
FEHE - Bt - ZEWBRARNAERESER
FEM16% (ZE=ZF : 16%) A4 Bt 8l
o ZEMBRARAMNEBESNFELETRIK
FRIEBEBE R KT EIZHIERE (T
BIEBE) FHHEKEED LT ERRIKE
F o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRHEFAIN - AARETIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED) 6 BREAIEE (@)
(b) Staff costs: (continued) (b) EIAE: (&
Notes: (continued) BisE - ()
(i) (continued) i @
The Group also operates a Mandatory REBTRBEE S GREIME QB2 EMEHI)
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) REBEB(ERBEROD) AIEZEEERNZE
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident MEBET T RFIEAESTE ([ARES
Fund Scheme Ordinance for employees gl1) - RBEHEARBLITATENAE
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong WIRIRETE - BIFRBESETE - BEREE
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF BE B AKREEBBRANSKAFTEIHRK -
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement & ABRUWALA30,000/8 T AR © MEESE
plan administered by an independent trustee. SWEL M HRENRSE - WED QUA A
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer RSB AR AR A HKKE
and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of Hong Kong
Dollar (‘HK$")30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately, there is no forfeited
contributions that may be used by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contribution.
The Group has no further material obligation for BRYED B RN - NEE W ES EE MRIK
payment of other retirement benefits beyond BARE—PERNREE -
the above contributions.
(c) Otheritems: (c) HfmEAR :
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARBT T
Depreciation expenses (Note 11) WEBA (fMzE11)
— owned property and equipment — AN R 1,479 3,780
- right-of-use assets —[FREEE 7,779 7,783
9,258 11,563
Impairment loss on non-financial e mBEERAERE F1E11)
assets (Note 11)
—right-of-use assets —(EREEE 888 -
Operating lease charges relatingto  EEHAEREEEEEMERRE
short-term leases and leases rEEHESE A (iEE11(0)
of low-value assets (Note 11(b)) 2,507 2,405
Auditor’s remuneration - audit services 1% Eta B — A2 B AR 2,350 2,300
Cost of inventories (Note 16(b)) FERA (FzE16(0) 101,538 267,796
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B SRR M 5
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B RA& AN - AAREFIR)
INCOME TAX 7 FiEW
(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement (a) SZEBEERAWFEEA :
of profit or loss represents:
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Current and deferred taxation BIVEA MR RERH 18 - =
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b)

Notes to the Financial Statements

accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

RERFEGENREMAEETERcY
BE -

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Loss before taxation BRARATEIE (124,863) (82,194)
Expected tax on loss before taxation, 1&i# F 5 A B8 7104 & B & m A L
calculated at the rates applicable R E BRI RITRAT B IE & 18
to profits in the jurisdictions CBRF=EG) ~ (i) B2 i)
concerned (Notes (i), (i) and (iii) (25,645) (20,813)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1~ A] 177 5 5 B9 F7 15 52 22 5,963 2,478
Tax effect of unused tax losses and ﬂiﬁﬁu? B9 B A A5 TR A 18 I AT 4Rk
deductible temporary differences Rl ZE0NBTE
not recognised 19,682 18,335
Income tax 5% - _
Notes: FiteE -

U

The Company and the subsidiaries of the

() ARBERNEETMAIORNEENE R RN

Group incorporated in Hong Kong are subject HE-_Z-_—F+_-_A=+t—HULEEFEEAERK
to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% for 16.5% (ZZT=FF : 16.5%) IR ERHNEH

the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
16.5%). No provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax has been made, as the Company and the

ST - ANAR R RNEB MK AR E
EBARNEE—ZE-—F+-A=+—H
I FE BB REBNSHREREE A

subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in Hong WA EREBF ST REE (T =2F
Kong did not have assessable profits subject AREZT) o
to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: RMBNIl).
(i)  The Company and the subsidiaries of the iy ARFRSBRFASHEHERABELHESEM

Group incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands, respectively, are not
subject to any income tax pursuant to the rules
and regulations of their respective countries of
incorporation.

PRS0 A SR B BT 2 BIARIR EL 3% B RE M B SZ P
FEER R R FERBRYRERPTEH o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BABAIN + UARETIR)

7 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 7 Frig®t (&)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and b) REAREGFENRERTHESTEE2ZY
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: R (8@
(continued)
Notes: (continued) st : (8)
(i)  The subsidiaries of the Group established in (i) AEERTECINRERS)KZHHEARR
the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) are subject to HE-_T-—F+-_A=1T—HIEFEER
PRC Corporate Income Tax rate of 25% for the 25% (=T =FF : 25%) T REMNPH D F
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 25%). FTiG# »
8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8 EEH
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section BRIEEB R REHIFE383(1)IER AR (HWEEEHZE
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and ERD BB FER BN ESEHIT ¢
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2021
—E--F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2R B
E=He RENEN MEEA HEGE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARRTR  AR®TR

Executive directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromest & - 398 - - 398
Mr. Yuan Weitao =EEELE - 1,321 - 48 1,369
Non-executive director FHITES
Mrs. Guo Yan Lo - 249 - - 249
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors
Mr. Wong Chi Keung HIBAE - 249 - - 249
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan B - 249 - - 249
Mr. Liu Jialin AREEE - 249 - - 249

- 2,715 - 48 2,763
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBASN + UAREFIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 8 EEHM (E)
2020
e S -3
Salaries,

allowances Retirement

Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total

o R RIK
EEHE  REMEF [N =praan FTEIfEIR Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTT ARETRT AREBTRT ARBTR

Executive directors YTES
Mr. Cheng Jerome Cheng Jeromest 4 - 427 - - 427
Mr. Yuan Weitao RERRE - 938 - 4 942
Non-executive director FHITES
Mrs. Guo Yan Pz L = 267 = = 267
Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BREAE - 267 - - 267
Mr. Chan Chi Keung, Alan Bk - 267 - - 267
Mr. Liu Jialin AsEAE - 267 - - 267

= 2,433 = 4 2,437

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 9 BEFMAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, hE&EFATH  —BCEZF - B)EFF K
there is one (2020: Nil) director whose emoluments ZHMRK S HE - MR (ZE_ZTF : AR)IE
are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the EZATHEMERAT :

emoluments in respect of the four (2020: five)
individuals who are not directors are as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ZTTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR¥ETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYEN 6,540 7,847
Retirement scheme contributions RIRFHEIE R 125 26
6,665 7,873

BEBEEEERATN T FEEHL | 127
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA A + AAREFIR)

10

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The emoluments of the four (2020: five) individuals
who are not directors and who are among the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are within the
following bands:

REFHMA L (&)

AEBRERSFMALPIEENTNBAL(CE
—FF AR)NFMNFATERE :

2021 2020

—E-—-F —E-FF

Number of Number of

Individuals individuals

N N

HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 £ 1,500,000/ 7T 3 4

HK$4,000,001 - HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7L £ 4,500,000/ 7T 1 1
LOSS PER SHARE 10 EREE

Basic loss per share (a) BREXREE

(@)

(b)

The basic loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2021 is calculated based on
the loss attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company of RMB49,467,000 (2020:
RMB1,652,000) and the weighted average
of 1,810,9583,000 ordinary shares (2020:
1,810,953,000 ordinary shares) in issue during
the year.

Diluted loss per share

The Group’s convertible bonds, share options
granted and warrants issued could potentially
dilute basic loss per share in the future, but
were not included in the calculation of diluted
loss per share because they were antidilutive
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBASN + UAREFIR)

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 11 YERRZE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREEEEE
Motor vehicles
Leasehold and other  Right-of-use
improvements equipment assets Total
=
/'bﬁ&
HE%EE Hittkt EREEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT ARBT ARBT R
Cost: B
At 1 January 2020 N_E-F£F-F—H 6,208 11,943 10,721 28,872
Exchange adjustments R (34) (177) (319) (530)
Additions NE 629 482 14,325 15,436
Disposals HE (1,163) 611) (2,629) (4,403)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZF+-A=1—H 5,640 11,637 22,098 39,375
Accumulated depreciation: RiHAE
At 1 January 2020 RZE-TF—H—H (4,899) (7,600) (7,431) (19,926)
Exchange adjustments B 5 3R 10 128 99 237
Charge for the year EREH (1,557) (2,229) (7,783) (11,563)
Written back on disposals HERD 1,163 473 2,629 4,265
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZF+-A=1+—H (5,279) (9,222) (12,486) (26,987)
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZF+-A=1—H 361 2,415 9,612 12,388
Cost: A
At 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—F—H 5,640 11,637 22,098 39,375
Exchange adjustments B H 3R (13) (78) (151) (242)
Additions NE 232 274 2,335 2,841
Disposals hE - (527) - (527)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZRA=1—H 5,859 11,306 24,282 41,447
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZiHTERAERSE :
impairment loss:
At 1 January 2021 R-—E-—F—F—H (5,279) (9,222) (12,486) (26,987)
Exchange adjustments B 5 3R 6 66 69 141
Charge for the year FALH (189) (1,290) (7,779) (9,258)
Impairment loss REEE - - (888) (888)
Written back on disposals HERD - 434 - 434
At 31 December 2021 RZB-—-F+-A=+-H (5,462) (10,012) (21,084) (36,558)
Carrying amount: BREE
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZRA=1—H 397 1,294 3,198 4,889
BHBHBEEEERA T —FFERE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BHE#BA5) © AARETIR)

11 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Right-of-use assets
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-
use assets by class of underlying asset is as
follows:

=

Office premises, carried at depreciated cost  HAZE

The Group has obtained the right to use office
premises through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of up to
3 years.

The analysis of expense items in relation to
leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

11 YERREGE)

(b) FEAEEE
RIEBEES ENEREEENEREFEND
W

At 31 December At 31 December

2021 2020
R-ZE=-—F WZEZEF
+=A=+-B +=H=1+—8
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFT
C ATE R ANTIER 3,198 9,612
AEEDRBHEERENSGPRAETWENER

% - HEMVIREER— ﬁQFETLfﬁz

HEMEE P RERNEEEENFXRB DT
e

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use LI EE D R A%
assets by class of underlying asset: BEMNFERS
— Office premises (Note 11(a)) - WAEMEHE11(a) 7,779 7,783
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets ~ f FAHEEE R EE 12
(Note 11(a)) (Ft5E11(a)) 888 -
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEB AN BFAEZ (F1:E6(@)
(Note 6(a)) 576 1,305
Expenses relating to short-term BEHHEREEEEENE
leases and leases of low-value FERER A X (F5E6(c)
assets (Note 6(c)) 2,507 2,405

As mentioned in Note 6(b), as a result of the
streamlining of its operations and reduction of
workforce in 2021, the Group also ceased the
utilisation of certain leased premises prior to
the expirations of the related leases in 2022.
Accordingly, an impairment was recognised on
the aggregate carrying amount of these leases
of RMB888,000 in 2021.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the

maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
Notes 18(c) and 21, respectively.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 31 December 2021, the Group has the following
intangible assets:

(i) An electronic distribution platform, www.
CCIGMALL.com, which the Group acquired
through the acquisition of an e-commerce
business in 2015. In view of the increasing
competition within the e-commerce sector,
and the slower than expected growth and
uncertainties surrounding the future of the
Group’s own e-commerce business, the Group
has written down the carrying amount of the
intangible asset to its recoverable amount of
RMBNiIl in 2017. The Group has ceased the
e-commerce business in 2018.

(i) An exclusive income right obtained in 2016 from
the development of a tailor-made e-commerce
platform for a property developer in order to
earn revenue from this property developer
by assisting its property sales through the
platform. In view of the slower than expected
progress of the property projects under
development by the above property developer,
the management of the Group considered such
projects may not be developed as planned. The
Group has written down the carrying amount of
the intangible asset to its recoverable amount
of RMBNIl in 2017. Despite of the efforts spent
over the years, the directors of the Company
consider that there is no realistic prospect to
recover all or part of the consideration paid to
the above property developer.

13 GOODWILL

In 2015, the Group acquired the 51% equity interests
in Century Network Holding Limited (“Century
Network”) for a consideration of RMB76,392,000.
The excess of the cost of the purchase over the
net fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
of RMB61,013,000 was recorded as goodwill and
allocated to the Century Network’s e-commerce
business.

As mentioned in Note 12, in view of the slower than
expected growth of the e-commerce business, the
Group has written down the carrying amount of the
goodwill to its recoverable amount of RMBNil in 2017.
The Group has ceased the e-commerce business in
2018.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RIF5 ¥R IR
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12 EFEEE

RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—HB AXEBBUTER
BE

() EFDHEFEwww.CCIGMALL.com » JhAE
ER—_E—RFERRBErRmBEEBWER
R ERETHEDBHEFHBEZ - UEA
SEESEFRHEXBKIERRBHEERER
RZAEEN  AEBER-_Z—tFBHE
FEENRABEMRZEEAMKECBARKET
Lo AEBER-_ZT—N\FRIEETHEE
ﬁ%o

i) AEER-_ZF-R"ES—2VEREEHRET
HEFRHE TR ZBREAER - AEB
ZFEmBEMEHE BB EMEERER
WA - R LY RFREERE CWEEB E
E@ﬁ%%@’$ﬁlﬁﬁgm % FEE R

REMFEMBR - ARECER T —LFHlt
ﬁﬁé?%%@@Wﬂ%ﬁT%@ > BRARE
T -BEBNZF  ARAEFAR LE
BEAMSAIKEZ2EHEDEN T Ll YR
EEENER

13 BHE

R-ZZE—h%F AEBEUREARMK76,392,000
TT Y& Century Network Holding Limited ([Century
Network ) 51%&4E o i B A N8 ) AT Uk s ] 5 51 &
EFENATFEMNEZTEAREG1,013,000 T4 8%
BREE N DB ZE Century NetworkfE F R B £ -

PR 2P - SN E FRE XIS RERNTAS
AEEER T —LFHEHENREERREER]
WESBEARBET AKEER-_FT—N\FLL
ETREEFRS -

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

14

(BREEH

LGN - AAREESIR)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

14 RMIBATEIZERE

The following list contains only the particulars of THREHINEAEEESE  BEEIBEENEEY
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, LB R RIS o
assets or liabilities of the Group.
Proportion of ownership interest
EREESLA
Particulars of The Group’s
Place of establishment/ ~registered/issued effective  Held by the Held by
Name of subsidiaries incorporation and paid-up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
‘ BR/ERFR  AREN A0 KEAR
WEARER R/ HERAZE  ERER fi&% e TZER
Beiing Century Fortunet Network Technology Co,, Ltd.* ~ The PRC RMB3,000,000 51% - 100%  Trading of goods through electronic
(Note (i) distribution platform, mobile
applications and other related
) \ ) - means \
FrtEnBsBERARAR () i AE%3,000,0007C ERETAETA  BHEREL
REMREAAL HEm
Centchain Co., Ltd. (‘Centchain’) * (Note (i) The PRC RMB200,000,000 18.9% - 100%  Faclltate digital point business
\ . through an electronic platform
HRGEEREEN (HRGE]) (i) i AB#5200,000,0007T BRETTREMETENEH
Century Network (Note (v)) The British Virgin Islands -~ United States Dollar 51% 51% - Investment holding
(USD'1
ABELEE (7)) R
Fortunet Development Limited (Note (V) Hong Kong 1 share 100% - 100% - Investment holding
SERRARAR (W) 3y 1R RERR
Pom tsea Company Limited (‘PCL") (Notes (j and (v)) The Cayman Islands RMBT 2,701 18.9% - 47.24% In\{estment holding
AERRAA([H8]) (M) RSHE ARB127017 RARR
Pom sea Holdings Company Limited (Note (v) The British Virgin Islands -~ RMB100,000,000 40% - 80%  Investment holding
AEERERAR (HH) ABRAES ARH100,000,0007T RERR
P<)jntsea (Hong Kong) Limited ‘(“Pointsga HK’) (Note (v)) Hong Kong 1 share 18.9% - 100% In\{estment holding
718 (&8 ERAR (9858 (R y 1] RARR
Shanghai Sub-chain Information Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB10,000,000 - - - Faciltate dligital point business
\(“Sub-cham”) (Notes (u) and (|v)) . through an e\\ectron\ic platform
FAAEERERINBRAR (2 5] (I  RE ARH10,0000007 BRETTREMETENEH
Treasure Ease Holdings Limited (‘Treasure Ease”) (Note (v))  The British Virgin Islands RMBB80,065,000 50.1% 50.1% - Investment holding
ABRAES AEH80,065,00070 RERRK

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

*

The English translation of the names are for reference
only and the official names of these entities are in
Chinese.

Notes:

(i) The directors of the Company considers PCL,
including PCL’s wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Centchain and Pointsea HK, is a subsidiary of the
Group through its power to control the board of
directors of PCL.

(i) In July 2017, the two individual equity holders (the
“Sub-chain’s equity holders”) of Sub-chain entered
into a loan agreement with Centchain, pursuant
to which Centchain provided interest-free loans of
RMB5,000,000 to each of the Sub-chain’s equity
holders. The loans are secured by the respective
equity interests in Sub-chain held by the Sub-chain’s
equity holders. Centchain is granted an exclusive
and irrevocable option to purchase part or all of the
equity interests in Sub-chain held by the Sub-chain’s
equity holders. The Sub-chain’s equity holders
entrust all of their respective equity holder rights in
Sub-chain to Centchain. Although the Group does
not hold any equity interests in Sub-chain, based
on the terms of agreements Centchain contracted
with the Sub-chain’s equity holders, the Group has
the current ability to direct Sub-chain’s activities that
most significantly affect the returns and will receive
substantially all of the returns related to Sub-chain’s
operations and net assets. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company consider it is appropriate to account
Sub-chain as a subsidiary.

(i)  These companies are wholly foreign owned
enterprises established in the PRC.

(iv)  This company is a limited liability company established
in the PRC.

(v  These companies are limited liability companies
incorporated outside of the PRC.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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14 RBLRZRE @)

(i)

()

BIXGRRERSERMSERZETRAEAT -

ARPEERR  BRAEENDSEEGZES 9
B (BENBN2ENBARELBENDEEE) B
AEEMEBRTF -

REZZB—+Ft A DEERBERRESEA(D
RSB A BB ER L E SRR - Fittt
s mE D B ERERE ARMARS,000,000
TREER - BRI EEREREASENSBE
BB 2 mE AR - B ERERBR KA e
BRENBES k2 Bo B ERERG AR B E
BB ZER - pHERERBARBESSERD EE
ZRIERE AEFZRT TGS - BEAEEARR
S E R A ERRE - EEN GRS B AR
BB ARG 2 B AEBRBRERS B#E
B WRRAGEATES) 2RAENRIGKESE
HEEBERAEFEZAIIDE® - At - ARAES
RABHOEREARY| AHBARBIEE -

ZERBBRPEKIL I EBEE RS -

ZABB—HERFERIZEREERF]

ZERBBRPEIRINEMK L 2 BREERF °
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14
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

The following tables list out the combined financial
information of Century Network and its subsidiaries
(“Century Network Group”), and Treasure Ease and
its subsidiaries (“Treasure Ease Group”), the two sub-
groups within the Group, which have material non-
controlling interests (“NCI”). The summarised financial
information presented below represents the amounts
before any inter-company elimination.

Century Network Group and Treasure Ease Group

14

R B AR 2 RE (F)

TRINEAREBRA BRI ([ IR E
25 1) 7K £ B jE T Century Network N £ i B A &)
([Century Network&® |) A K Treasure Ease &
BB A A ([Treasure EaseE B |) (A FEIFSE R -
THNE S E R E AR EH A7) 85 ATAY 3R
I8 o

Century Network £ B K Treasure Ease5:[®

Percentage of NCI 21 2020
FEREZA I —E-—fF —E-THE
— Century Network — Century Network 49.0% 49.0%
— Treasure Ease —Treasure Ease 81.1% 81.1%
2021 2020

B —fF —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARETIT

Revenue A 114,211 268,841
Net loss 1R F 58 (94,675) (101,433)
Net loss attributable to NCI IR E R E(EEEFRE (75,396) (80,542)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBASN + UAREFIR)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RHELR2ZRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
At 31 December At 31 December
2021 2020
R=B=—-% RZZE-T4F
+=A=+-B +=A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,579 7,530
Current assets MENEE 164,171 137,826
Current liabilities mEBE (725,663) (626,243)
Non-current liabilities FRBEFE (49,542) (33,971)
Net liabilities FRE (608,455) (514,858)
Net liabilities attributable to NCI IEERIER RN EEE (373,338) (298,814)
HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 15 BEXZHAEZERE
At 31 December At 31 December
2021 2020
R=ZB=—F i
+t=A=+-B +ZA=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBFT
Held-for-trading investments: BER BB ZIKE
- Listed equity securities in Hong Kong — BB L MHREES 910 1,685
Held-for-trading investments are stated at their fair BEXSGHB 2B ERELEERMBARREE
values which have been determined by reference to EHAFEIE BEXSZAE2RENATEE
the published price quotations in active markets. Loss FEEHARKT38,000LEREBE_T_—F+=
on fair value changes of held-for-trading investments A=Z+—HIEFENBRPHERA(CZE_ZF : AR
of approximately RMB738,000 has been recognised #674,0007T) °

in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: RMB674,000).

BhBREEMARARN T FEEHL | 129
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16 INVENTORIES 16 #&

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement (a) HZEMERARNEEESR
of financial position comprise:

At 31 December At 31 December
2021 2020
R-E-—F RZZTZTF
+=ZH=+—-H +=-HA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR AREFT

Merchandises held-for-trading FERXHREZ Bm 2,818 2,759
Less: write-down of inventories B FERUR (2,185) (1,351)
633 1,408
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) CERAEIRTAGESEZERNEESESD
recognised as an expense and included T

in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss is as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFERREE 100,704 267,509
Write-down of inventories FEHUR 834 287
101,538 267,796
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Financial Statements

RIF5 ¥R IR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA BB + AAREFIR)

17 BEEREMERE

At 31 December At 31 December

2021 2020
R=ZB=—F RZZ_TF
+=A=+—R +=-A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETTT
Trade receivables Z 5 EWFIA 19,795 9,121
Less: loss allowance (Note 26(a)) A R EE (FTEE26(a) (1,642) (1,408)
18,153 7,718
Other receivables: H b el
- Loans to third parties —BFE=H2EX 25,878 26,537
— Receivable for issuance of shares of a — R IR S A R BT
subsidiary to a non-controlling equity — M E 2 R B FEMGRIE
shareholder (Note (i) (&) 100,000 100,000
~ Others —EHAth 8,818 8,209
134,696 134,746
Less: loss allowance (Note 26(a)) A R EE (FTEE26(a) (30,640) (31,664)
104,056 103,082
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REERATENCREE 122,209 110,800
Prepayments and deposits BAFE kRS 11,945 11,385
134,154 122,185

All of the trade and other receivables, net of
loss allowance, are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expenses within one year.

Note:

(i) In 2019, PCL issued 28,036,564 new shares to one
investor. Proceeds of RMB100,000,000 from the
investor has not yet been received while the investor
granted an advance of RMB100,000,000 to a wholly
owned subsidiary of PCL (see Note 19) which is non-
interest bearing and will mature upon receipt of the
proceeds for shares issued to the investor by PCL.

P B 5 K Bt JE WK IR (FORR B 1R BHR) TR —4F
MU AR R

fE

RZT—NF - §/8M—RIREEIT728,036,564
BRFNARD - DIFHAKREIZB TR EEFMERBARE
100,000,0007¢ - HZEHREEEMHEN—HE2E
BB A A2+ AR ¥100,000,0007T (R HE19) » 3%
BB TTE - R ERAZEINEEBRITRG
R FTS SRIE % B H -

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17 EF R HAMEWFIE (&)

(CONTINUED)

Ageing analysis BRE DT

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing HEREHRR  FABSREMEBKRFKECESE
analysis of trade receivables (net of loss allowance), WEkIE (MR BB E) AN B E A BN RR ST a0
included in trade and other receivables, based on the e

invoice date, is as follows:

At 31 December At 31 December
2021 2020
R-ZE-—Ff i S
+=A=+—-8B +=A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBTT

Within 3 months =EAR 15,307 7,625

Over 3 months but within 6 months BB=EAELNEA 2,462 37

Over 6 months i@/~ E A 384 56
18,153 7,718

Details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk Zl$%@E’M%éﬁﬁﬁ(?ﬁ&%ﬂ%&/H\MJ@”&Z?KIEEEE’UE

arising from trade and other receivables are set out in BERE 2 FBEERHITE26()

Note 26(a).
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at bank and on hand

The Group’s operations in the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) conduct their businesses in RMB.
RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the
remittance of funds out of the PRC (excluding
Hong Kong) is subject to the exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash
flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R i ot

(BARBRBIN  RARKEFITR)

18 HRERREFEBEURAEMRERER

(a)

POLFRRES

(b)

HeRRSESEEBERBE
At 31 December At 31 December
2021 2020
R-E-—F RZZTZTF
+=A=+-B +-A=+-H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR AREFT
50,426 152,273

AEBERTE (TREER)NEGEEAAR
BetE - ARBEATAIEHABRNERRES
E LB (TBEER) AR BB BRI
ERBIRE o

MEZHELERENER

TRAMASEREZDASABNES (B
Re kA8 - ERPMSRERRS
MEFIARREREFRAEEGARSRE
RPENERBETDAERERE -

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BA AN + UAA R

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 18 RERRSEERBURAMBRERESR ()
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) RMETBHEEEEMNEIRGE)
financing activities (continued)

Advance froma
Liability ~ non-controlling Loans from
components equity an equity
of convertible shareholder Lease shareholder of Interest
bonds  of a subsidiary liabilities the Company payable Total
RE-BHEAT REAAR
TRRES Wk ERER -#BERR
HWeEss RENSH HE8E &R A &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
(Note 20) (Note 19) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 19)
(Ik20) (B3t19) (#321) (F322) (F19)
At1 January 2021 W-8=-F-F-H 50,489 100,000 9,638 33,666 668 194,661
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSTERY.
Proceeds from new loans FEMENE - - - 16,79 - 16,79
Capital element ofease rental peid EfRERE ARED - - (8,009 - - (8,009)
Inerest element of ease rentals paid BffERE A8 ES - - (576) - - (576)
Inerest paid EffflE (3674 - - - (715) (4:389)
Total changes flom financing cash flows RERSEENREE (3,674 - (8585) 16,79 (715) 3822
Other changes: -
Net increase i lease labiltes fom newleases  EAFTTRAELARERE
entered during the year B3R - - 1,031 - - 1,031
Fnance costs (Note 6(a) BN 18,113 - 576 - 2047 21,636
Waiver of iterest expenses (Note 22 B SR (Ha22) - - - - (1077 (1077
Exchange adjustments EHA% (1,644) - (180) (1,406) - (3.230)
16,469 - 2327 (1,406) 1870 19,260
At 31 December 2021 W-8z-F+-h=t1-A 63,264 100,000 3,580 49,056 1823 211,143
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 18 HERBLEEEEURHEMBESRER (E)
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BMETBEEEENHIERGE
financing activities (continued)
Refundable
deposit received
from a third party
in connection
Advance  with a terminated
fromanon-  capital injection Loans from
Liability Derivative  controlling equity  into anon-wholly an equity
componentsof  componentsof  shareholderofa  owned subsidiary shareholder of
convertible bonds  convertible bonds subsidiary ofthe Group  Lease liabilities ~ the Company  Interest payable Total
BY-25Zh
H550-8
RE-EHEAR  F2ENRLA PEELOY
TERES  TRRERN  NESRER RIEXER -%R&HR
WaESR  fEIEER LS TEERE HESE PLE S it

RB000 RMB000 RVB(00 RMB000 RNB'000 RVB000 RVB'00) RMB(00
NRBTT NRETT NRETT NRBTT NEBTTL NEHTTL NRBTT NRBTR

(Note 20) (Note 20) (Note 19) (Note 19) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 19)
(ik20) (#3k0) (H3k19) (I319) ligA)] liR#2)] (H3t19)
At1 January 2020 H-8-25-A-A 120 13 100,000 10000 2,964 - - 140,104
Changes from financing cash flows: BEEEHEAE :
Payments forheredemptons of - EE AR ER 2131
convertiole bonds (2825) (13 - - - - - (28269
Proceeds flom issuance of convertle - %777 AR EFTERE -
bonds, net of ransaction oosts MERHAE 107817 - - - - - - 107877
Procegds fom new logns HEHEETE - - - - - 3,125 - %1%
Depostretnded oathidpartyin ~ RE-AF=HHAER
comecton with ateminated captl  ~THEREMEAT
ectoninoanonwholyouned £t FERES
subsidiary of the Group - - - (10,000) - - - (10,000)
Captal eementof easerentals paid ~ BEERS 22885 - - - - 7.2 - - 7.2
Inerest dloment of ease entaspaid — EFRERE2FIEHA - - - - (130 - S (1309
Inerest i BfiflE (1541) - - - - - - (1541)
Totelchanges from francing cash ~ BEEREEMEDEE
flows 78,080 (1§ - (10,000) (8520 35,12 - 94,672
Other changes: 4y L
Net increase in ease liabiites from new i
leases entered during the year = = = = 1432 = = 1432
Equty component of convertible bonds i
issued (59212) - - - - - - (69212)
Finance costs (Note 6/a)) 5,861 - - - 1,305 - 668 7834
(Gain on redempfions, extinguishment
and recogniton of convertible bonds
(Note 6(a) (314 - - - - - - (314
Exchange adjustments EFL (1,069) - - - 239) (1.459) - (2749
4719 - - - 16,30 (1459 6% w9
At31 December 2020 e .3
+2B=1-A 50489 - 100,000 - 9838 33,666 668 104,661
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 18 HERBLEEEEURHEMBESRER (E)

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c)
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow
statement for leases comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows BREERERE
— lease rentals paid —BEfNHERS
Within financing cash flows BRRERERE
— lease rentals paid —BEfHERS

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

HERESRHARE

FARERERTHENSREBRENATRIE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
2,507 2,405
8,585 8,520
11,092 10,925
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19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19 EFFHMENFIE

2021 2020
R-B=—F R-Z_FF
+=A=+—-8B +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Trade payables B SRENFIA 18,255 10,285
Payables for staff related costs 8 THRRER AR FET 3008 3,812 8,331
Payables for miscellaneous taxes ARE 3 164 609
Payables for selling expenses incurred [ BFEED KT
for digital point business HEMY 66 72
Advance from a non-controlling equity shareholder & & — KB A AR 3EIERAL MRS
of a subsidiary (Note 17() R B E R (P 7() 100,000 100,000
Interest payable to an equity shareholder ERARR—BERREFIE
of the Company 1,823 668
Others HA, 7,002 8,824
112,867 118,504
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost RESEKATENEREE 131,122 128,789
Deposits received from business partners in BRBEFESEB L
connection with the digital point business EBBHENRS 1,494 1,904
Receipts-in-advance received from customers Bl E PR 2,216 812
Deferred income ELEWA 2,476 2,180
137,308 133,685

All of the trade and other payables are expected to
be settled or recognised as revenue within one year

or are repayable on demand.

At 31 December

At 31 December

BB EEEARAR

TBE S REMENFRIBEERN —FREE KR
RSWASIREZLEE -

B R
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19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19 EZREMELRKE(E)

(CONTINUED)
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing HERSHR FAEBESREMEMNKIEZESE
analysis of trade payables included in trade and other NFBENEZEHHNRRIITOT ¢

payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

At 31 December At 31 December

2021 2020
R=B=— RoE-T&
+=A=t-B +=-A=+-H

AR%TT ARBTTT

Within 3 months =@EAA 16,893 9,558
3 to 6 months =ZEA 563 124
Over 6 months @7~ E A 799 603
18,255 10,285
20 CONVERTIBLE BONDS 20 mAERES
The Group’s convertible bonds are analysed as AEBEABMRESF ST ¢
follows:

Liability Derivative

components components Total
a8E&8s TEIAHRS #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2020 R—E-_=F—H—H 27,127 13 27,140
Redemption of convertible bonds & Bl A] # % (& %5 (28,570) (13) (28,583)
Convertible bonds issued EETABMRES 48,665 - 48,665
Accrued finance charges NEEZ RV HER (Fizke()

for the year (Note 6(a)) 5,861 - 5,861
Interest paid ERFE (1,541) = (1,541)
Exchange adjustments b H % (1,0593) - (1,053)
At 31 December 2020 and RZEZTF+_A=1+—H

1 January 2021 —FE-—%—H—H 50,489 - 50,489
Accrued finance charges REF T % E A (Fiike()

for the year (Note 6(a)) 18,113 - 18,113
Interest paid BFE (3,674) = (3,674)
Exchange adjustments M 5, AR (1,644) = (1,644)
At 31 December 2021 R_E_—F+-_A=+—H 63,284 - 63,284
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20 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 20
Represented by: K&
— non-current liabilities —ERBEE

In June 2020, the Company redeemed the remaining
principal amount of USD4,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB28,269,000) of the convertible
bonds issued in prior years in cash. The difference
between the redemption value and the carrying
amount of these convertible bonds amounted to a
gain of RMB314,000 had been recognised in profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020. In July
2020, 154,691,176 ordinary shares of the Company
owned by Century Investment which were pledged
for the above convertible bonds had been released.

In October 2020, the Company issued convertible
bonds with face value of HK$126,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB108,945,000) (“CB1”) to
Century Investment. CB1 bear interest at 3.5% per
annum and will mature on 19 October 2023. The
Company has the right to redeem all or part of CB1
(i.e. the call option) at any time before the maturity
date. As the call option is closely related to the
host contract, the call option is not accounted for
as a separate derivative financial instrument. Upon
issuance of CB1, Century Investment can convert
CB1 into the Company’s ordinary shares at HK$0.42
per share (i.e. the conversion option) at any time,
in whole or in part, before 14 October 2023. The
conversion option amounted to RMB59,212,000
was regarded as an equity component of CB1 and
credited to the Company’s capital reserve account.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(B SEBIL - AARTIT)

ARRES (&)
At 31 December At 31 December
2021 2020
R-B=-—F i
t=A=+-B +ZA=1+—R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
63,284 50,489

RZEZZTFNA ARFUREBELORNBEFE
BATH AT R B 5 M T #R 2N £ 884,000,0003 7T (1855
R AR EE28,269,0007T) ° %5 AR EHERE
EHRHEREEZ ME58 Ak A RE314,0007T
ERBE_ZE-_TE+_A=t+—RHIFENEXR
NER - M-ZT =T 4F+ 7 » Century Investment$F
BH9154,601,1 76 FAAE 1R it ATEME SRR
B E B E ARRR IR o

RZZTZFF+ A - AAREITHEEA126,000,000
I (FEER 4 AR %108,945,0007T) Ky AJ 2 A% (5 %5
([FTH#p% &% — 1) FCentury Investment o A (&
A5 —RFENRILE%TE BN _E-_=F+A+h
BEE - AR R AR EIHE B ATHE B 2 20 ek 30
DA ES— BIRERE) - ANREEEES
LK)ZY AR REBHETEARYAEBTESR
TH - RETRIRRES —1& + Century Investment
AR —ZE =%+ A+ A AR IRER0.42E T
EE NI D AR ES BB AR AR TR (B
HaHARE) o B EANE A R#59,212,000 T 118 & Al
BRESF—HERID Wt ARR RN ERNFEE

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE

139



140

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R B o

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

21

22

(BAARBIN RARKEIIR)

LEASE LIABILITIES 21 HEAE
At 31 December 2021, the lease liabilities were RZEZ—F+H=+T—H ENHEGEWN
repayable as follows: T
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Within 1 year —FR 2,792 7,461
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEBRREN 788 2,095
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBERFNR - 282
788 2,377
3,580 9,838
LOANS FROM AN EQUITY SHAREHOLDER 22 REXRRFA-—EEBBRRZER
OF THE COMPANY
In 2020, PCL, a subsidiary of the Company, RZZEZTF « AR F—[EME AR S /EHECentury
and Century Investment entered into loan facility Investments] 3 & F B & 7% (fﬁﬂﬁﬁz’; 1) - Bt -

agreements (“Facility Agreements”), pursuant to
which Century Investment granted loan facilities of
HK$111,000,000 to PCL. The loan facilities will expire
after 3 years or such later date as may be agreed
between PCL and Century Investment in writing,
representing the date upon which the Company is to
repay all loans drawn under the Facility Agreements
in full. The Facility Agreements are unsecured with
an interest rate of 6.5% per annum applicable to
all loans drawn under the Facility Agreements.
At 31 December 2021, the outstanding principal
of loans drawn under the Facility Agreements
is HK$60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB49,056,000) (2020: HK$40,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB33,666,000)).
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Century Investment[d % /8% H B ZEEE 111,000,000
BT o %fxﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ/\*E@:&’n‘}tiﬁiCentury
Investmentr] REE E 7 7€ A8 & & B Hi (BAR
BEEELEREHZCIRDNZABEES ZElﬁJ%)J=
W REWMEAERE  FFEE6.5%  BARE
BERERECRRZMBER N —F+=
B=+—H BREMRERZCRERDNERZKEER
% /460,000,0005 7T (FHER 4 A R #49,056,000
70) (ZZEZF4F : 40,000,000 7T (FHZERH A R EE
33,666,0007T)) °



22

23

LOANS FROM AN EQUITY SHAREHOLDER
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

In December 2021, PCL entered into an interest
waiver agreement with Century Investment, pursuant
to which Century Investment waived an interest
receivable from PCL of HK$1,304,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB1,077,000) for the year ended
31 December 2021. Century Investment is an equity
shareholder of the Company, and accordingly,
the above waiver of interest expenses by Century
Investment was regarded as contributions from equity
shareholders and RMB1,077,000 was recognised in
equity.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme which
was adopted on 28 June 2010 whereby the
directors of the Company are authorised, at their
discretion, to invite any full-time or part-time
employees, executives, officers or directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Group
and any advisors, consultants, agents, suppliers,
customers, distributors and such other persons who,
in the sole opinion of the directors of the Company,
will contribute or have contributed to the Group,
to take up share options at HK$1 to subscribe for
ordinary shares in the Company.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

22

23
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READE—BERRR ZER(H#)

RZZEZ—F+=F - 5/FECentury Investmentz]
SR B E W 0 HBIL 0 Century InvestmentiRE &
—E - F+ A=t HULEFEREEKSEHN
721,304,000/ 7T (FBZF A AR #1,077,0007T) °
Century Investment/&A A RIERARE - Hit - Lt
Century Investment®A % &7 B F 2 15 AR R
SEE - MAREE,077,0007T A RS FERR ©

ERGEURDA/AERNRS

ARBRBER-_T-—ZTFNA-_+N\BERANE
iR - Bt AARERERERENBES
AEBEEMNE2BARBES  HITAR  SABE
FEF(BEBIUFNATES) RARAEZEER
iR E B S E E B BRI 5 AT - B8
AR HERE B DHEBAARFREMAL
RIBTTRENBREAREAR R R EER

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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23 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(@) The terms and conditions of unexpired
share options granted are as follow:

Share options granted to a director:
BT — 2B SMHEARE -
-0On 7 August 2018
-RZZ-\FN\RtH

() The number and weighted average
exercise price of share options are as
follows:

Outstanding at the beginning and the  IAEM R EFRKTIE
end of the year

Exercisable at the end of the year RERAF7E

The share options outstanding at 31 December

2021 had an exercise price of HK$1.21 (2020:

HK$1.21) and remaining contractual life of 1.3
years (2020: 2.3 years).

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

23 RESEFEUROA/ERNKS (B

(a) FRAZMBERENFRRRAFEOT

Number of Vesting Contractual life of
instruments condition share options
BB

TAHA FEIRT BHH
72,000,000 No vesting condition 4.74 years
ERBIRMT 4745

(b) MBREHERMEFHITEENT :

2021 2020
—BC--F —TTF
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options  exercise price  share options
ik S il B
TEE fBRES R 1T6E(E BikERR
HK$ HKS
BT BT
1.21 72,000,000 1.21 72,000,000
1.21 72,000,000 1.21 72,000,000

R-B-—F+-A=+—BRTEBEREN
TEBAEIIBT(ZE_EF 1218 1T) &
BIHAKHEABI3FE(CT-TF : 2.34F) o
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(BRAHEZAIN - AARESTIR)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 24 EEBEEERAEE
Deferred tax assets not recognised REAWELERIEESEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in REWF2()E K - ARER BB FDE
Note 2(t), the Group has not recognised deferred tax RERA - BEET K 7] 8278 AR R FE R B 5 ) LA K 65 7]
assets in respect of unused tax losses and temporary HEACREBEREREEZE  HAEER -
differences of RMB621,421,000 at 31 December TS AT RAYERRDARBEEERE
2021 (2020: RMB550,436,000), as it is not probable At =5 ARKB21,421,000 0 (ZZEZFF : AR
that future taxable profits against which the losses ¥550,436,0007T) FERIELEFRIBEE - RZT——
and temporary differences can be utilised will be F+ZA=1+—H  RPAREBEER =T
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The F+—A=+—H=ZAEW °
unused tax losses at 31 December 2021 will expire
on or before 31 December 2026.
CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25 BAX - FERRE
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) HEZFHIWEEH
The reconciliation between the opening and AEESAERSTIONEVIRFEREH2H
closing balances of each component of the RENGEERF TR - ARTERBD R
Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the REVEER 2 FEFFFEHHIOT -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out
below:
Share Share Capital Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve resenve losses Total
e RiARE BREE 5 ES &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  AREfT  ARETR  ARETR ARETT  ARETR
(Note25(c) ~ (Note 25(d)il)  (Note 25(c)fi))  (Note 25(c]i)
(ko) (koo  (esks)  (PsE2s(d)i)
Balanceat1January2020  W-B-EF-fA-AMEH 117,812 1,263,789 19423 7115 (1,271,140) 136,999
Changesinequityfor2020: ~ R-Z-BFNERLE:
Proft for the year ERET - - - - 15,790 15,790
Other comprehensiveincome R EM 2 ENE
for the year - - - (11,269) - (11,269)
Total comprehensive income ~~ FRZENGEE
for the year - - - (11,269) 15,790 4621
lssuance of convertble bonds BT R (R (13H20)
(Note 20) - - 59,212 - - 59,212
Balance at 31 December 2020 W=Z=ZF+-A=+-H
e 117,812 1,263,789 78,635 (4148 (1,265,350) 200,738

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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144

25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25 &X - RERKRE (&
(CONTINUED)
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) HEZTHWEE (B
(continued)
Share Share Capital Exchange Other  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
e P ERGfE BN Bt ESy st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETx
(Note 25(c))  (Note 25(d)(i))  (Note 25(d)(ii) (Note 25(d)fiii)) (Note 25(d)(iv))
(WsFos(c)  (WEk2s(e)i)  (eskos()i)  (RveRos(a)Gi))  (F&¥25(c)(iv)
Balance at 1 January R=E=-%-F-H
2021 e 117,812 1,263,789 78,635 (4,148) - (1,255,350) 200,738
Changes in equity for R=E--FHER%
2021; g
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (122,329) (122,329)
Other comprehensive ~ EREM 2T
income for the year - - - (954) - - (954)
Totalcomprehensive ~ FNRENEEE
income for the year - - - (954) - (122,329) (128,283)
Effecton equity arisng (& X FHRHI T~
fomthedisposalof ~ MBARLIERE
asubsidiary under F2 ()
common control
(Note 27) - - - - 291 - 291
Balance at 31 R=B=-£+Zf
December 2021 =t -AfER 117,812 1,263,789 78,635 (5,102 291 (1,377,679) 71,146
(b) Dividends b) K
() Dividends payable to equity () [ENERRG#EEREELREENRE
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year
The directors of the Company do not RAABEEIEBRNBEZE_T_—F
recommend the payment of a final T A=+ —HIEFEZRBEKRE(ZF
dividend for the year ended 31 December —EF ARBZIT) ©
2021 (2020: RMBNIil).
(i) Dividends payable to equity (i) REFEHEZEMELGERKREE

shareholders of the Company
attributable to the previous financial
year, approved during the year

The directors of the Company did not
recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: RMBNIil).
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25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Share capital

U

(i)

Issued share capital

Authorised: ey
Ordinary shares of USD0.01 each  BRXEI{E0.013 T
LER

Ordinary shares of USD0.01 E&{TREMERFAN
each, issued and fully FREEOIETZ

paid: EZER
At 1 January and 31 December ®—A—HRk+—=A
=t+-A
Warrants

In September 2018, the Company
issued 298,000,000 unlisted warrants
(the “Warrants”) at a price of HK$0.01
per warrant to Century Investment. Each
warrant entitles the holder to acquire
one ordinary share in the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.38 per share
from a period commencing on the date
that is six months after the issue date and
ending on the fifth anniversary date of the
issue date.

During the year ended 31 December
2021, no warrant was exercised (2020:
Nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBASN + UAREFIR)

25 EX - #ERERE @@

(c) MR&
() EZBTRAE
2021 2020
—E--F e S -3
No. of shares No. of shares
ROYE BEGEE
’000 USD’000 '000 USD'000
TR STED T TET
5,000,000 50,000 5,000,000 50,000
2021 2020
—E--f —ETTH
No. of shares No. of shares
RHEE BGEE
’000 RMB’000 '000 RMB’000
TR AR%ETR T AREFTT
1,810,953 117,812 1,810,953 117,812
(i) EREFE

RZBE—N\FENA  ARAEZERBES
19 FRAXHE0.018 758 17298,000,0001%
IE RS ([3RX#ERE ) FCentury
Investment o B0 RIXEZE Ti58 A
FMAZITHBEA NEAERRTHEE
FERAF B BRI ITEESR1.387E T
UG B8 — AR AN A B E AR o

BE -4+ _-_A=+—8I%F
€ WERREZETE(CE _ZF
) o

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

U

(i)

(i)

Share premium
The application of the share premium
account is governed by Section 34 of the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve comprises the
following:

- the portion of the grant date
fair value of unexercised share
options granted to a director of the
Company that has been recognsied
in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based
payments in Note 2(s)(ii);

- the unexercised portion of the
warrants issued; and

= the amount allocated to the
unexercised equity component of
convertible bonds issued by the
Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted
for convertible bonds in Note 2(r)(i).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements
of operations which have a functional
currency other than RMB, the Group’s
presentation currency, into RMB. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in Note
2(w).
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25 EX - #ERERE @@

(d)

BEZHEREN

U

(ii)

(i)

BRGEE
FARMDEERIFEESHEAFIF22E
NELE(—NARN—FFE=ZFE0 - K546
RAEET) EE3AIREETE o

BX @G

ERFBEEBATSE

—  EREBWRE2(s)(i) Pt st AR D BE
B2 R G 5T BERFER AR
TARRREFHARTTEBBRENE
H BB R FERD

—  DBETRABREENRITESD R

- REMIEE20() B AT R E SRR Z

& A MERAD A BT R
PR 35 1T 48 25 28 BT 5 B
SH -

EL#E
EXFERRRENEERASARE (K
SEN25EE) LI BN RFELE
MBEBERARERELNBINEE
B o BERBEME2(wW) I ST BER R
b2



25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(continued)

(iv) Other reserve
Other reserve comprises the following:

— the difference between the
consideration paid and the carrying
values of the non-controlling
interests acquired by the Group in
prior years;

- the difference between the amount
of capital injections made by
non-controlling equity holders of
a subsidiary of the Group and
the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the
subsidiaries’ net identifiable assets;

- contributions made by Century
Investment in the form of waiver of
interest expenses (see Note 22); and

- the difference between the
consideration received and the
carrying value of the net liabilities of
a subsidiary under common control
disposed of.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the
level of risk and by securing access to finance
at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher equity shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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25 EX - #ERERE @@

(d)

(e)

EEZER B )

(iv) Eftf#E
HiEBBRIEATEE !

- NUEFEAKEENKRERLEKE
W iE R FEE A S PR E (B 2 R =
Bk

—  AEE-RWEBARIHERERR
B ARYEE & R 8 2 7 A R
R E IR R TG E 2 B
Z8 R

—  Century InvestmentIAZA%e F 25 52
FEAEH A EHFR (2EMEH22) - &

—  HEHEEZESITH—RENREB AR
ERREEEEFEREEZHEN
E8 e

aEXEE

AEEGEEAERE FWEERNRRERNEE
RESIF AL - @B ERRE R RRRE
i MRS EBIARESE RN AR E &SR
PR SRR A4 (2] 3 Ko 2 EL A M| 25 AR B 2 R SR 3

AEEEGR LT PR MEBEEARGERE - U
EEERTEaRRE®BEEFKF L2
B ARERBRNENSRANESEHZ 22
BIMERET & - NSRBI R
HENRGER -

AR A) R B AT B w5 AR 1 e S SR A AN

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial
risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade and other receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit standings, for which
the Group considers to represent low credit
risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade and other receivables

The Group has established a credit risk
management policy under which individual
credit evaluations are performed on all debtors
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the debtor’s past history
of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the debtor as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the debtor
operates. Trade receivables are generally due
immediately from the date of billing. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from
debtors.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk in industries in which the debtors
operate. Significant concentrations of credit
risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual debtors. At
the end of the reporting period, 46.9% (2020:
67.3%) and 99.8% (2020: 98.1%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest debtor and the five largest debtors,
respectively.
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AEERAEEKERTELEE  RPHES 7
KRR EERR

AREBEMAZEREAEESEEZETREBERAZ
MBRREEBOR R BRI T

(@ FERR
SERRERZTHERESOETMEHA
%l%%MW%EZH& AEEEERR
TBREE S MEAMREWFOR KEIXEE
EMREFERENEERRER - AR
T REAREENENRITR S MRS ZFEE
B RAEERBRAE

AREEY EpL AN E A sEEER AV & R RIEH
{EfHELR

EBESZRAMEKE
AEBEHEEERBREREER  HERK—F
SHEU L EEEIMBREBAETENEES
i o ZEEEEEBABT BN RE L K
EHZ e - W REB AR E R EER
ARERERLERREBER - B RKEIE
—MEFZEABRAREE - —RmE @ &A%
@T?ﬁéﬁ%/\ﬂé ﬁ#ﬁuu"

AEBEBEALEEMETES N FEEKXNE
BEEARER EAEEETEREZAAEE
HERIEBS AR EERNRBREELS - RREH
K BHREWFIBRERNL6.9% (T _TF ¢
67.3%) }99.8% (=T =FF: 98.1%) D Bl A fE
WAREEHZAKEEARAKNEREARFIE ©



26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significant different
loss patterns for different debtor segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is
not further distinguished between the Group’s
different debtor bases.

The following table provides information about
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs
for trade receivables:

Less than 3 months past due

Over 3 months but within 6 months
past due

Qver 6 months but within 1 year
past due

Over 1 year past due BERE—F

BROR=1E A
BB E=EABINEA

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(a)

FERR (@)
AEBIZRENERBEERET R 2 B EFE
HMEREEBERZ BT EE S RUGKIAZE
BEE - ARAREZ BT EEBRERILE
ATREBADBBREAGERRAEZE - R
R E 2 BERBEYERNAKE TR
BEAZREE—TED -

TRERABASENE SR FIRMEERZ

EERRLBEREEBEZEM

At 31 December 2021
R=B--f+=-A=1+—H

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEEE REAE EERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% AR®BT R ARET R

2% 15,664 (357)

22% 3,150 (688)
53% 814 (430)
100% 167 (167)
19,795 (1,642)
BHEBEEEERAT T FFEHRS
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26 HMERMREERESMIAENATEGE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
(@) Credit risk (continued) (@) FEERRE
At 31 December 2020
RZZE-ZE+-_HA=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHIES IR RHEAE EEAE
% RMB’000 RVB’000
% ARET T ARETTT
Less than 3 months past due AELR=1EA 2% 7,793 (168)
Over 3 months but within 6 months BB =EAEIRAEA
past due 23% 48 (11)
Over 6 months but within 1 year BEEANEAEIR—F
past due 92% 714 (658)
Over 1 year past due BHBE—F 100% 566 (566)
9,121 (1,403)
The expected loss rates are based on actual FEHEEXRREERBELRELNAE IR
loss experience adjusted to reflect differences MEHS AT SR ARARNZLBERR - ERIAR
between economic conditions during the period g R 7N 52 (B 4 FE WK 2 TR ERSF HR A 2 48 B AR,
over which the historic data has been collected, ZEAZEZER -
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.
Movements in the loss allowance account in FRNBEBE S REMEYGIENEERHRE
respect of trade and other receivables during £ N
the year are as follows:
2021 2020
—B-—fF —E-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETTT

Balance at 1 January R—A— B4 33,067 63,861
Exchange adjustments & H (663) (1,089)
Impairment loss/(gain) recognised during ~ FAE R RIE

the year &8, (W) 909 (29,673)
Amounts written off during the year FRME SRR (1,031) (32)
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—Br&EsH 32,282 33,067
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The treasury function is centrally managed
by the Group, which includes the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of funds to cover expected cash demands.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term. Note 2(b) explains
the management’s plans for managing liquidity
needs of the Group to enable the Group to
continue to meet its obligations as they fall due.

The following table shows the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
dates the Group can be required to pay.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(b)

RBES R
BRMERAEETRER - BERSAHKRN
RHRE  UAREKESUREERREH
Ko AEENHREEETRERRBESHER
KRERZHOEITER - NEREREHIRES
#f BXEZomMBAmRRERTunmE R
B H{MENERARERHRSHESHFE - M
2OREEEEEEASERDESH MG
3 AEAKERANETINNEERTE
fF o

TRIRAEBRHERRZEORUERE
mE (BREERE AN XN (ETE) NREH
REOBABS R R+ BRI SN0 S ENITE S
BEENRSREOHR  URAKEAREES
RN RF A -

Trade and other payables measured
at amortised cost

Convertible bonds

Lease liabilities

Loans from an equity shareholder
of the Company

2021
—E--&
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ERRERR LR
More than
Within 1 year 1 year but less Carrying
orondemand than 2years Total amount
—FR HBB—fF
RERER BLRWE @t BREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARET R AR¥T R
REENAENES
REARET TR 131,122 - 131,122 131,122
HBRRES 3,606 106,623 110,229 63,284
MEBE 3,007 892 3,899 3,580
READT ki
REZER 3,189 51,137 54,326 49,056
140,924 158,652 299,576 247,042
BHEEEEGRAT —T - FHEHRE
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26 HMERMREERESMIAENATEGE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RBESERRE(E)
2020
“ZTCTF

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
RORURF T
Within -~ More than ~ More than
1year  1yearbut 2 yearsbut

oron less than less than Carrying

demand 2 years 3 years Total amount
—£R BE-F BEWF

FREK EBIRME BIR=F st REE

RVMB'000 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARRTRE ARBTT ARBTRE ARBTTL

Trade and other payables measured ~ IREHK A BHE 5

at amortised cost REARERT TR 128,789 - - 128,789 128,789
Convertible bonds ARRES 3,712 3,712 109,758 117,182 50,489
Lease liabilities HEAR 7,890 2,411 345 10,646 9,838
Loans from an equity shareholder REARDA— LR

of the Company REZER 2,188 2,188 35,854 40,230 33,666

142,579 8,311 145,957 296,847 222,782
(c) Interest rate risk (c) RIRER
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily AEBMAERBREBRE S ETTEESNU
from interest bearing bonds issued and loans EREANAT —BREFIRE 2B o FFF =
from an equity shareholder of the Company. REFEREERD EREEAZRERE N
Borrowings issued at variable rates and at = [ b o A FER X @B o

fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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26 UBEREEREMIANDFEGE

(CONTINUED)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (c)
Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of
the reporting period.
Fixed rate borrowings: BEEFIEER
Convertible bonds AR ES
— liability components —BEHs
Loans from an equity shareholder of the REANDF—H
Company R 2 ER
Lease liabilities ME&R
(d) Currency risk (d)

The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through borrowings which give rise
to borrowings and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a
currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily USD, HK$ and RMB. The Group
ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to
address short-term imbalances.

2= B ()
TRFFAANE B RS BRAOEA KR -

At 31 December At 31 December

2021 2020
R-ZZE=—F RZE-EF
+=A=+—-B +=ZA=+—8H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
63,284 50,489

49,056 33,666

3,580 9,838

115,920 93,993

B ER
AEEmH T ERBRAINE (IR ZHEE
BUHREBUINNER) GENER MRS
HRELERER - SHZERNEBEZRE
T BTLMARE - KEERBRERR L EEIZA]
HAPE R B B IME AROR T B K1 - 1 K% R
BRAERFFE AR HOKF o

BB EEEARAR

T —FFERE
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,
translated using the spot rates at the end of the
reporting period. Differences resulting from the
translation of financial statements of operation
with a functional currency other than RMB
into the Group’s presentation currency are
excluded.

Cash and cash equivalents RebkHReSMEER
Loans from an equity shareholder KAXRRR—%

of the Company BaBRRERZER
Other payables Hib e zua

Gross exposure arising from recognised EHEREE R & BE

assets and liabilities /2 fee 25
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeSHEER
Loans from an equity shareholder REARAE—%E

of the Company BaREER
Other payables HAERFIE

26

i

BHEAREERERMTIANDTEGE

(d) EREEE

TRFHMAEER RE R RAABHEERIGE
BRI ERFIENDRREEXRBEME
EMEBRER - RETTHHR  ARRREER
RMERARNBEZHLE - LAREIR - T
BRERBAARE AN GG ST E MR
RREEAREE2IIEREHHZH

At 31 December 2021
R=F=—-%+=-A=1-H

Gross exposure arising from recognised B HEREE N B BELRNER

assets and liabilities k]
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usD HK$ RMB

e BT AR¥

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETT AR¥ETR

6,006 2,115 48

- (49,056) -

(368,343) (264,181) -

(362,337) (311,122) 48

At 31 December 2020

RZZE-ZF+=-A=+—H

usbh HK$ RMB

T BT AR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T ARET T

1,909 2,309 19

- (33,666) -

(369,270) (155,134) -

(367,361) (186,491) 19
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26 MHEREERERMIANDTEGE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥ER(E)
Sensitivity analysis BRESHT
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRIVRMBETE E bR S e - K
change in the Group’s loss after tax and SERBREPRAERNEMEEHNEXRR
accumulated losses that would arise if foreign HAEBEGRBEERER 25 EBEEENERE
exchange rates to which the Group has B o phittims - EEREBBITEE TR EGIE X
significant exposure at the end of the reporting TR THEMEENEER S8R E
period had changed at that date, assuming all BMERNTE -
other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between HK$ and US$ would be materially
unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the US$ against other currencies.
2021 2020
—E--& “TEF
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in loss after (decrease) in loss after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rates losses rates losses
BHEER BRiEEE
HNEER REER HNERE = REiEE
tR/(FR) &/ /RP)  LA/(TR) #En/(Rd)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETFT
usD e 5% 18,117 5% 18,368
(5%) (18,117) (5%) (18,368)
HKS BT 5% 15,556 5% 9,325
(5%) (15,556) (5%) (9,325)
RMB AR 5% 7)) 5% (1)
(5%) 2 (5%) 1
BHBEEEERAT —T - —FFEHRE | 155
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(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ loss after tax and accumulated
losses measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2020.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 183, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs,
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities at the measurement
date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value
measured using Level 2 inputs, i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value
measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)
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(e)

AF{EMH B

(i)

URFPETEBHEHEERER

TRENAREERRERRALEMEE
EAENSRIARTE REBMK
HEERNFEARA FlEEMRERF
BEEOR=(EFH - R FEFHAE
B 3 REARIR (A E BT (62 A 9 8 A 2R )
CERNEZHEGERE ST

- BRI ERNAE-RBAR
15 - EIR AR A N E A
ERRTSNAMBERETED
FE -

—  BRME: MBS _fEARE
(BDBR o — AR IREIN Y AT B R 8 A
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (continued)

BHEAREERERMTIANDTEGE

() AFEFEGR

() HURFEABHEHBEERERE)

Fair value Fair value
measurements measurements
at 31 December  at 31 December
2021 2020
categorised categorised
into Level 1 into Level 1
R-B=-—%f RZEZETF
t=A=+-B +=A=1—A
FEBE-—BR  HWAE B
WAFE MATE
Hp= itE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETIT
Recurring fair value measurement REMDATEETE
Financial assets: SHEE
— Held-for-trading investments —BERHRBZIRE
(Note 15) (FF3E15) 910 1,685

REBEZE_ZE-_—FR_FT_FTF+_A
=t+—BHItFE F—HEFE-_FH
WEEEN W ENLE = REANEL -
NEBZBRETYANBEENFESHM
2 BRI R RIERRE o

During the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (continued)
The movements during the year
in the balance of Level 3 fair value
measurements are as follows:

Derivative components of convertible
bonds:
At 1 January

Redemption, extinguishment and recognition

of convertible bonds

At 31 December

(i)  Fair values of financial assets and
liabilities carried at other than fair
value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values at 31 December
2021 and 2020.
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26 UBEREEREMIANDFEGE

) AFEIEE
() HAFEHEHSHEER AR )
E=RATEHEEBHFREHD

T
2021 2020
—E-—fF e e a3
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
ARRESNITE
THEBS :
R—H—H - 13
B EERER
AR E S = (13)
®+=A=+—¢~ - -

() LHEAFEAEHESBEER AR
AFHE

RZEZ—FR=-_ZE_FTF+=A
=+—H  REEZRKA KSR AT
FEHNeMTARAEREAFETES
RER o

IBHBEEEARAR T FHEERE
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27

28

(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement entered
into between the Company and Century Investment,
the Company disposed of its 100% equity interests
in Century Blockchain Limited (“CBL”") to Century
Investment in October 2021 for a cash consideration
of USD1. The carrying value of the net liabilities of
CBL disposed of amounted to RMB291,000. The
above disposal was accounted for as a transaction
under common control, and accordingly, the
resulting surplus of RMB291,000, represented by the
consideration received over the carrying value of the
net liabilities disposed of, was accounted for in equity
as a contribution from equity shareholders.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the material related
party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year are set out below.

(@) Transactions with equity shareholders of
the Company

Interest expenses
Interest bearing loans received

Details of issuance of convertible bonds to an
equity shareholder of the Company are set out
in Note 20.

Details of a waiver of interest expenses arose
from loans from an equity shareholder of the
Company are set out in Note 22.

Details on a disposal of a subsidiary under
common control are set out in Note 27.
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HEHEES T — KB AR

BB A T ECentury Investments] 37 # A% fE o2 22
W AR T =—F+ AL EERCentury
Blockchain Limited ([CBL) #100%i%# F Century
Investment ' I E&REA1ETT - FTHECBLAEF
HEHIREE A ARE201,0007T » it B E ARSI A
HEZEEI TR S - Bt - E4R2#HARKE291,000
T(ENEWREBBMEESEFREMENER)E
BRI FERERALRR °

28 EABEEAIRS
BRZSEAYBRERMERBENEHIN  AAEE
PERGIZHEABEHB AT »

(a) EBERATEZRRETHRS
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ZTTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
M ERX 2,947 668
BUEFEER 16,796 35,125

AARE—BERBREITARRESNFE
ERHIEE20 ©

HRRBARE —BEBBIR 2 BRELHF
BRXHFIEHNHE22 -

& FL R ST 8 — R 2 R AR B R P
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28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the directors of the
Company as disclosed in Note 8 and certain
of the highest paid employees of the Group as
disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions
The related party transaction in respect of
issuance of convertible bonds to an equity
shareholder of the Company constitutes
connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are provided in section Connected Transactions
of the Directors’ Report.

The related party transactions in respect of
loans received from and guarantees provided
by an equity shareholder of the Company,
waiver of interest expenses by an equity
shareholder of the Company and disposal of
a subsidiary to an equity shareholder of the
Company are exempted from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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28 EXBBAIRZ (#)

(b) BAREIEASHH
FRREIE A BE M (SR ESPIE N T A
NAIEFNS RN TOMBKES T &5

EE)T :
2021 2020
s —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
HEEERAF 7,894 8,283
MR EHRFRIK
ST B 78 38
7,972 8,321

() LtWRAIGEBERSHNEMM

BRRARE —REEBRETARRESH

BARE T R BB _ETMRAIF14AZ AT E R

BERG FMBRAEAATRENREHNE
SREMERS M -

ARB—BRGERRAEWER R EZHE
R ARB—BRDBRBENEFA KA
A E)— B IR i — ] P B B A BE B
TRPEHRRET EMRUEVIATHRER
e
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20 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 29 AREIEEMBEARRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December At 31 December
Note 2021 2020
R-B=—F i S
BisE +=A=+—RB +=HA=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property and equipment LIEIE L 2,310 4,857
Interests in subsidiaries NGl 14 124,017 115,768
126,327 120,625
Current assets REEE
Held-for-trading investments BER SR IRE 910 1,685
Other receivables Hip Ui zoa 1,796 1,357
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEEB 17,162 134,325
19,868 137,367
Current liabilities nBaE
Other payables H A e 3018 2,951 2,724
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,913 1,969
4,864 4,693
Net current assets RBEETE 15,004 132,674
Total assets less current liabilites #AEERRBERE 141,331 253,299
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Convertible bonds AJRRES 20 63,284 50,489
Lease liabilities HEEE 301 2,072
63,585 52,561
NET ASSETS BEEFE 77,746 200,738




29

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRF#E
Share capital BRA
Reserves [t

TOTAL EQUITY RSB

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 30 March 2022.

Cheng Jerome
Cheng Jerome
Director (Chairman)
EE(1/E)

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R i ot

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B BAEBASN + UAREFIR)

29 QATFEEEBERR R (E)

At 31 December

At 31 December

Note 2021 2020
R-ZBE-_—% NZE-TF
BsE +=ZH=+—-BH +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT

25
117,812 117,812
(40,066) 82,926
77,746 200,738

HEFER _T-__F=A=T+THHEREET

%o

Yuan Weitao
RES
Director

EF

BB EEEARAR

T —FFERE
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32

(BREEHAIN - UARKETITR)

CAPITAL INJECTIONS FROM A THIRD PARTY
INTO A NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY
OF THE GROUP

In July 2020, the Group, via PCL, entered into an
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant
to which PCL will issue not less than 61,078,767 new
ordinary shares but not more than 73,287,671 new
ordinary shares at a total subscription consideration
of not less than USD35,670,000 but not more than
USD42,800,000 to this third party. Up to the date
of issue of these financial statements, the capital
injection mentioned above is still under negotiation
and has yet to be completed.

IMPACTS OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The Covid-19 pandemic since early 2020 continues
to bring uncertainties to the Group’s operating
environment and may impact the Group’s operations
and financial position.

Despite of the easing of the Covid-19 pandemic
in Mainland China, the Group continues to closely
monitor the possible impact from the Covid-19
pandemic has on the Group’s business and keep
contingency measures in place and under review in
the case where the Covid-19 pandemic rebounds.
These contingency measures included but not limited
to reassessing changes (if any) to the customers’
preferences on the types of goods or services
and to align the Group’s procurement strategies
(where necessary) to meet the customers’ needs,
reassessing the adequacy and sustainability of the
existing suppliers, expanding the Group’s supplier
base in a view to procure suitable goods and services
to meet customers’ preferences on a timely basis,
and improving the Group’s cash management by
expediting debtor settlements and negotiating with
suppliers on payment extensions.

The exact timing of the cessation of the Covid-19
pandemic is still uncertain. Nonetheless, the directors
of the Company is optimistic that the Covid-19
pandemic will eventually be under full control.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company at 31
December 2021 to be Century Investment, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for
public use.

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021
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32

F=FRAEE-BFZEMBLREE

RZZEZZFLH  AEBBEBLYBEH—FBIE
=HEIMN W Bt 9B REAERETIR
35,670,000 JLIE ~ % 12 42,800,000 T 31T~ >
761,078,767 T E BT BN % 1473,287,671 I FT
EBRTZE=ZH - BEZSUHEHRETIZZBEE -
By EMEEET - BEARTK °

HEMRRITNRE

A-E-EEE  FEBARERRYAERS
EIRRAACTHEE - A4 AR 8 R B
BRI -

BETEAOTEMRISTAMEN - NeE#
BT BRI RIS A e H A RBRBELR
FE VHERTEERSERIEE  UBHE
PRRBRE - ZFRHEREEETRRENF
MEPHERIRBBEZH 2 & (WF) - UAFE
AEBRBERE (A KE) VBEERFHRE - BT
BRNEHERTCERELAFENE  BRASEM
FERmER - UERRBEERmMREAREEP
Eif - WBEMRER A GE K EE R
FETERAREREERSERE -

7 fib AR 15 B0 BE £ 4% LE B R 4D N BRER o & 1
ft - RAREFHHEMARBERLHEE22E
RIS REBER -

HERBRERAF

ARABEERB RZE_—F+ZAHAH=+—
B AAFRWMEEE&KIER AT BCentury
Investment * A RN RBREZAHSEMKY - ZE
BIWERAIBARFANYIERE



33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and a new standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance
Contracts, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and which have not

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BE—E-—S+-A=t—HLEFEESRMHE
M AREMPIEET ~ FRTEARZENBESE

BEAMBHRERTEARSL - BESHMLSE
BHREBE_FT_—F+-_A=1+T—BHLEFEHRK
EREE TIER] R — B BRI T BN 58 E £
FI17H - REREH - HEAMB MR AR KRES
ZERRBE MR EEA KBRS

been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

M5B #Ask 2 1%

BRI 2 HAR A
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
BBNEHELEREIR AEE] - BLRIELZIET —E-—_F—F—H

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
BB ERIE16RZAER] - W% - BB RRH - BETHERLZ g B

1 January 2022
- —F—A—H

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling a Contract
BRGTHEREITRZER] » BIRIMEEA —BITEHZ KA

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020
BERNBRELEN T N\FE_ZT_ZFFEUE

1 January 2022
—E__F—H—H

1 January 2022
—E__F—HA—H

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

! : 1 January 2023
BERGTERNER 2ER] - B ESE R REHIETE :

—E-_=F—AF—H

1 January 2023
—E-=%—A—H

HKFRS 17, Insurance Conz‘racz‘s
BB BHRELELNFEATRZAEE] - REEAT

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies
ERGHENE IR LBEMBRELERNEBRER2R ER] - 2 HEHKE

1 January 2023
—Z_=%—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

BRI EAESR ZIER] - BatlZaraIEE

1 January 2023
—E=%—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

BREHRRE12RMER] - HBE—XZGELHNEERRIEBHNELHE

1 January 2023
—E=%—H—H
Amendments HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between an investor To be determined
and its associate or joint venture

BENGREENEI0RREB G RAUF28R 2EF] - REZLRYEL AL EPE fFE
ZENEELELTE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment AEBFEFHERZEERNEAERBRENF
of what the impact of these developments is 2o 25RIENEERBRMNZFERT A LS
expected to be in the period of initial application. MR RENEATE -

So far it has concluded that the adoption of them

is unlikely to have a significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements.

Ry
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5-Year Financial Summary

T F B 54 &

RESULTS ]

Revenue WA

Loss before taxation BRAATEE
Income tax (expense) credit P (B sx) H e
Loss for the year FAEE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

Total assets BELE
Total liabilities BB

Net assets/(liabilities) BE/ (BB FE

Changyou Alliance Group Limited  Annual Report 2021

Year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=1+—HLEE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—T—+tF ZTF-)\F T-NF ZTTF ZB-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTTT AREBTT AREBTT ARETT AR¥T:R
167,632 50,977 204,112 268,841 114,211
(152,471) (263,896) (195,062) (82,194) (124,863)
(47,210) = = = -
(199,681) (263,896) (195,062) (82,194) (124,863)
At 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—FtF ZT/\F ZF-NF ZTTF =B-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT AREBFTIT AREFTT AREFTT AR¥ET:R
451,569 177,425 271,065 289,939 191,012
(119,171) (87,913) (181,903 (227,678) (253,228)
332,398 89,512 89,162 62,261 (62,216)




iHEESR BB RAE]

CHANGYOU ALLIANCE GROUP LIMITED

™
MIX
Paper from responsible sources

FREARENHRMRERY

HEBR

wwwfsc.org FSC™ C006398




	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Directors and Senior Management
	Directors’ Report
	Corporate Governance Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	5-Year Financial Summary
	Back Cover



